Research Methods for the BEHAVIORAL and SOCIAL SCIENCES

BART L. WEATHINGTON

CHRISTOPHER J. L. CUNNINGHAM

DAVID J. PITTENGER

Research Methods for the Behavioral and Social Sciences

Research Methods for the Behavioral and Social Sciences

By **Bart L. Weathington**

Christopher J. L. Cunningham

David J. Pittenger



This book is printed on acid-free paper. \bigotimes

Copyright © 2010 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc. All rights reserved.

Published by John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey. Published simultaneously in Canada.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning, or otherwise, except as permitted under Section 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without either the prior written permission of the Publisher, or authorization through payment of the appropriate per-copy fee to the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc., 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, (978) 750-8400, fax (978) 646-8600, or on the web at www.copyright.com. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748-6011, fax (201) 748-6008.

Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty: While the publisher and author have used their best efforts in preparing this book, they make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this book and specifically disclaim any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. No warranty may be created or extended by sales representatives or written sales materials. The advice and strategies contained herein may not be suitable for your situation. You should consult with a professional where appropriate. Neither the publisher nor author shall be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damages, including but not limited to special, incidental, consequential, or other damages.

This publication is designed to provide accurate and authoritative information in regard to the subject matter covered. It is sold with the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering professional services. If legal, accounting, medical, psychological or any other expert assistance is required, the services of a competent professional person should be sought.

Designations used by companies to distinguish their products are often claimed as trademarks. In all instances where John Wiley & Sons, Inc. is aware of a claim, the product names appear in initial capital or all capital letters. Readers, however, should contact the appropriate companies for more complete information regarding trademarks and registration.

For general information on our other products and services please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at (800) 762-2974, outside the United States at (317) 572-3993 or fax (317) 572-4002.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic books. For more information about Wiley products, visit our website at www.wiley.com.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data:

Weathington, Bart L.
Research methods for the behavioral and social sciences / by Bart L. Weathington,
Christopher J. L. Cunningham, David J. Pittenger.
p. cm.
Includes bibliographical references and index.
ISBN 978-0-470-45803-7 (cloth)
1. Psychology—Research—Methodology. 2. Social sciences—Research—Methodology. I.
Cunningham, Christopher J. L. II. Pittenger, David J. III. Title.
BF76.5.W43 2010
150.72—dc22

ISBN 9780470458037

Printed in the United States of America

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

To Jeanie, Alex, Rebecca, Mom, and Dad for literally everything. —Bart L. Weathington

To God, my wife Lori, my family, and my students and colleagues—thank you for spending time with me on the journey. —Christopher J. L. Cunningham

To my wife, Denise, who has, by example, taught me to enjoy the moment and to worry less about the future, which I cannot control. —David J. Pittenger

Contents

Preface xv Acknowledgments xix

Part I Overview of the Research Process 1

Chapter 1	Research and the Social Sciences 3
	Introduction 3
	Why Is Understanding Research Methods So Important? 6
	The Role of Science in Everyday Life 6
	The Scientific Method 8
	Brief History of the Science of Behavior 8
	Bacon's Legacy 13
	Other Important Historical Figures 13
	Assumptions of Science 16
	Requirements for Scientific Research 17
	Research in Action: The Case of Facilitated Communication 23
	Chapter Summary 26
	Chapter Glossary for Review 29
	Chapter References 30
Chapter 2	Ethics and Research 32
	Introduction 32
	What Is Ethics? 34
	Approaches to Ethical Analysis 36
	Making Ethical Decisions 41
	The Ethical Code of the American Psychological Association 42
	Seeking Approval for Research: The Institutional Review Board 44
	Milgram's Experiment Revisited 52
	Research with Animals 56
	Research in Action: Ethical Dilemmas 58
	Chapter Summary 62
	Chapter Glossary for Review 64
	Chapter References 64

Chapter 3	The Foundations of Research 66
	Introduction 66
	The Hypothesis in Research 67
	Types of Hypotheses 72
	Measurement 78
	Reliability of Measurement 84
	Validity of Measurement 87
	Populations and Samples 90
	Research in Action: Measuring Sexism 94
	Chapter Summary 96
	Chapter Glossary for Review 97
	Chapter References 100
Chapter 4	An Overview of Empirical Methods 101
Chapter 4	Introduction 101
	Internal Statistical Conclusion and External
	Validity 102
	Survey of Empirical Methods 113
	Intact Groups Designs and Quasi-Experimental Studies 117
	Surveys 120
	Correlational Studies 121
	Single-Participant Research Methods 122
	Meta-Analysis 124
	Computers and Statistics 126
	Research in Action: Effectiveness of Psychotherapy 128
	Chapter Summary 133
	Chapter Glossary for Review 135
	Chapter References 137
Part II	Nuts and Bolts of Research 139
Chapter 5	Writing the Research Report 141
enupter 5	Introduction 141
	What Do Readers Appreciate in Cood Writing? 1/3
	Flements of ADA Style 1/3
	Special Crammatical Issues 147
	Academic Integrity 152
	Parts of the Research Report 156
	Droofroading 173
	riouliedullig 175

viii

Chapter Summary 174 Chapter References 174

Chapter 6	 Reviewing the Literature and Forming Hypotheses 175 Introduction 175 Bibliographic Research 175 The Internet 179 Developing a Search Strategy 181 Searching the Literature: The Library 182 Research in Action: Does Listening to Mozart Make You Smarter? 186 Statistical Inference and Testing Hypotheses 190 Chapter Summary 193 Chapter Glossary for Review 194 Chapter References 194
Chapter 7	Sampling: The First Steps in Research 196 Introduction 196 The Nature of Samples 197 Probability Sampling 199 Sampling Methods 201 Nonprobability Sampling 205 Central Limit Theorem 207 Applications of the Central Limit Theorem 211 Sources of Bias and Error: A Reprise 217 <i>Research in Action: Trends in HIV-Related Risk Behaviors</i> 220 Chapter Summary 224 Chapter Glossary for Review 225 Chapter References 227
Chapter 8	 Creating and Using Assessments, Surveys, and Objective Measures 228 Introduction 228 Purpose of Measurement 228 Caveat Assessor 229 Creating a Measurement Scale and Developing a Data Collection Strategy 231 Interviews, Questionnaires, and Attitude Surveys 232 Question Response Formats 236 Writing Good Questionnaire and Survey Items 241 Determining the Sample Size for a Survey 246 Naturalistic Observation 249

	Research in Action: Analysis of Assaults 255 Chapter Summary 260 Chapter Glossary for Review 261 Chapter References 262
Chapter 9	A Model for Research Design 265 Introduction 265 A Model for Research Design 266 What Is the Independent Variable? 272 What Is the Dependent Variable? 274 Are There Any Confounding Variables? 277 What Are the Research Hypotheses? 279 Mathematical Hypotheses 280 Evaluating Hypotheses 282 Evaluating Hypotheses: Practical Matters 284 Research in Action: Sex Differences and Memory for Emotional Events 289 Research in Action: Changing Attitudes by Writing Essays 290 Chapter Summary 291 Chapter Glossary for Review 293 Chapter References 295
Part III	Common Research Designs 297
Chapter 10	Correlational Research 299 Introduction 299 Conceptual Review of Correlation 300 Pearson's <i>r</i> 302 Interpreting the Correlation Coefficient 302 Factors That Corrupt a Correlation Coefficient 304 Sample Size and the Correlation Coefficient 308 Applications of the Correlation Coefficient 310 Regression Analysis 315 Introduction to Mediation and Moderation 317 Regression to the Mean 318

Research in Action: Searching Short-Term Memory 321

Statistics behind the Research 323 Chapter Summary 331

Chapter Glossary for Review 333 Chapter References 334

x

Chapter 11	Between-Subjects Designs 335
	Introduction 335
	Student's <i>t</i> -Ratio for Independent Groups 336
	Review of Hypothesis Testing 338
	Testing Statistical Hypotheses 340
	Common Errors in the Interpretation of p 348
	The Power of a Test 350
	Estimating Sample Size 355
	Research in Action: Word Meaning and Memory 357
	Statistics behind the Research 359
	Chapter Summary 368
	Chapter Glossary for Review 369
	Chapter References 369
Chapter 12	Single-Variable Between-Subjects Research 371
	Introduction 371
	Independent Variable 372
	Cause and Effect 374
	Gaining Control over the Variables 375
	The General Linear Model 379
	Components of Variance 382
	The <i>F</i> -Ratio 384
	H_0 and H_1 387
	<i>F</i> -Ratio Sampling Distribution 388
	Summarizing and Interpreting ANOVA Results 389
	Effect Size and Power 391
	Multiple Comparisons of the Means 392
	Research in Action: Detecting Lies 396
	Statistics behind the Research 398
	Chapter Summary 403
	Chapter Glossary for Review 404
	Chapter References 406
Chapter 13	Between-Subjects Factorial Designs 407
	Introduction 407
	The Logic of the Two-Variable Design 408
	Advantages of the Two-Variable Design 409
	Factorial Designs: Variables, Levels, and Cells 413
	Examples of Factorial Designs 414
	Main Effects and Interaction 418

xi

	Designing a Factorial Study 426 Identifying Samples and Estimating Sample Size 429 Interpreting the Interaction: Advanced Considerations 431 <i>Research in Action: Reinforcing Creativity</i> 432 <i>Statistics behind the Research</i> 434 Chapter Summary 441 Chapter Glossary for Review 441 Chapter References 442
Chapter 14	Correlated-Groups Designs 443
	Introduction 443 Logic of the Correlated-Groups Research Design 444 Repeated-Measures Design 445 Matched-Groups Design 455 Mixed-Model Design 460 <i>Research in Action: Memory for Related Words</i> 461 <i>Statistics behind the Research</i> 463 Chapter Summary 465 Chapter Glossary for Review 468 Chapter References 469
Part IV	Special Research Designs 471
Chapter 15	 Single-Participant Experiments, Longitudinal Studies, and Quasi-Experimental Designs 473 Introduction 473 Single-Participant Experiments 475 Research in Action: Treatment for Panic Disorder 484 Longitudinal Designs 487 Research in Action: Onset of Bulimia 491 Quasi-Experiments 493 Research in Action: Traffic Laws and Safety 496 Chapter Summary 498 Chapter Glossary for Review 499 Chapter References 499
Chapter 16	Research with Categorical Data 502 Introduction 502 Goodness-of-Fit Test 504 χ^2 Test of Independence 508

_

xii

	χ^2 Test of Homogeneity 511 Further Analysis of the χ^2 513 McNemar Test 516 <i>Research in Action: Long-Term Effects of Childhood Abuse</i> 519 Chapter Summary 522 Chapter Glossary for Review 523
	Chapter References 523
Chapter 17	 Qualitative and Mixed-Methods Research 525 Introduction 525 Qualitative versus Quantitative Research 526 Theory and Perspectives Guiding Qualitative Research 527 Mixing Methods: Quantitative and Qualitative Combined 528 Qualitative and Mixed-Methods Data Collection and Analysis 530 Benefits and Challenges of Mixed-Methods Research 537 Sources of Published Qualitative and Mixed-Methods Research 541 Research in Action: Gender- and Job-Based Differences in Work Stress 542 Chapter Summary 545 Chapter Glossary for Review 545 Chapter References 546
Appendix A	Statistics behind the Research or, "What Was I Supposed to Remember from My Statistics Class Anyway?" 548
Appendix B	Statistical Tables 566
Appendix C	Answers to Knowledge Check Questions 606
	Author Index 637

Subject Index 641



The pursuit of knowledge requires no justification.

—David J. Pittenger

Ditto.

-Bart L. Weathington & Christopher J. L. Cunningham

Philosophy for Writing This Book

For those of us who teach research methods, one of the most gratifying experiences is watching students develop a passion for conducting research and an understanding of the practical value of systematic information gathering and decision making. These students discover that they can convert their natural curiosity about behavior into testable hypotheses. Moreover, they learn that studying research methodology is not arcane and irrelevant. Indeed, they come to appreciate the fundamental value and importance of empirical research. Because the vitality of science depends on the passion to learn more about behavior, it is our belief that a course in research methods is one of the most important courses that any student can take. Therefore, we wrote a book that we hoped would be attractive to students and convey to them our enthusiasm for research. To reach those goals, we strove to incorporate several features in our book.

Style

We wanted the book to be inviting and easily accessible for the reader. Therefore, we gladly used and active narrator voice to make the textbook as engaging and interesting as possible. There is a clear and conversational style to the text, but that does not reflect lack of rigor in the material. Throughout the text, we provide comprehensive accounts of scientists' best ideas and research methods.

Examples

Another strategy we used was to select familiar and contemporary examples. We based many of our examples on well-known social phenomena and on research that examines interesting topics. Our goal in selecting these examples was to illustrate important topics covered in the chapter and to show how researchers use research tools to answer complex and important questions.

Assumptions

Those familiar with parametric statistics know that they come with many mathematical strings attached. If the researcher cannot ensure that the data and the design of the data collection methods meet these basic assumptions, then the inferences derived from the statistical analysis may be suspect. In some cases, the statistic is extremely robust to violations of its assumptions. Other statistics fail to withstand even minor deviations from the requirements.

An assumption we made in writing this book is that that the reader using this book will have completed at least a general Introduction to Statistics course. Consequently, a certain level of statistical knowledge is assumed, especially the more basic concepts such as measures of central tendency, measures of dispersion, or standard scores. Nonetheless, many students seem to forget much after completing the final exam of their statistics course. This unfortunate phenomenon may mean that a single course in statistics is not enough to develop in students a sufficiently stalwart schema to ensure more efficient and durable encoding and retrieval of material. Therefore, this text does review critical statistical concepts as they relate to specific methodological techniques. Additionally, we included an appendix that can act as a statistics review.

A text should challenge students beyond their current ability. If education is not to extend the grasp of our students, then what is an education for? Thus, while we labored to write as clearly as we could, we also labored to ensure that we challenge students to extend beyond the bounds of their comfort and present to them the tools needed to understand contemporary behavioral research. In doing so, we hope that the instructor recognizes that he or she is not bound to teach every chapter or every topic in each chapter. This is a fairly thick book, and we hope that both student and instructor will recognize that it is a resource from which to draw information.

Integration of Research Methods and Statistical Concepts

It has been our common experience that many students begin a research methods course with only a vague notion of how the statistics they had studied in the prerequisite statistics course are related to research design. Over time, we found ourselves teaching concepts related to statistical analysis along with traditional concepts related to research methods. Indeed, a careful review of statistical techniques requires discussion of research methodology. Similarly, discussions of research design require a review of statistical principles.

Therefore, in writing this book, we wanted to ensure that students receive a comprehensive and detailed review of the best techniques for studying behavior and social phenomena. Consequently, where appropriate our chapters provide a comprehensive review of research methods and the statistical concepts that support them. The review of the statistical

xvi

principles, while comprehensive, is conceptual and nontechnical. Students who have completed a course in statistics will find these sections to be a useful review of important topics. Students who have not studied statistics will find these sections a suitable and readable introduction to these topics.

For example, the review of sampling procedures examines the different methods researchers use to create representative samples and demonstrates how the Central Limit Theorem allows one to make valid inferences using sample statistics. Other topics receive recurring attention throughout the book, including the important concept of statistical power. The goal is to show students that they can control power by adjusting sample size and by gaining control over specific types of variance—increasing variance due to the independent variable and decreasing variance due to random or sampling error.

Order of Chapters

We arranged the sequence of chapters to both match the steps in conducting research and to aid readers in learning how to design and implement a research project. Consequently, the first few chapters present background information, ethics, and an overview of various research methods. Subsequent chapters review such topics as bibliographic research and methods for generating samples. The next set of chapters reviews how to create reliable and valid measurement instruments. Thus, there are separate chapters on creating tests and using correlation statistics to evaluate the reliability and validity of any measurement. The lessons learned in these chapters set the stage for all types of psychological research.

The subsequent chapters examine the issues and steps common to all single-factor and multifactor studies, as well as single-subject and nonexperimental methods. Relatively early in the text is a chapter on how to prepare a paper that follows the editorial guidelines of the American Psychological Association. In most texts it is common to reserve this chapter for the end of the book. However, it has been our experience that waiting until the end of a course to talk about the most common form of final outcome (i.e., a written report) is simply too late for this material to take root. A concrete understanding of what the finished project should look like aids student researchers in learning about and planning a research project.

In writing this text, one of our goals was to allow instructors the flexibility to rearrange the order of the chapters without a loss of continuity. Ultimately the goal of a research methods course is to produce both informed consumers of existing research and informed producers of new or refined knowledge. We believe that the order of chapters aids in the completion of this goal, but some instructors may find that a different order of chapters better fits their style.

Pedagogy

Each chapter uses multiple methods to present the material, including clearly written text, familiar and interesting examples, and visual illustrations to help the reader understand complex and abstract concepts. The specific pedagogical features include:

- **Research in Action:** Each chapter includes case studies and critical thinking exercises. The goal of these exercises is to help the reader apply critical concepts to a research scenario.
- **Knowledge Check:** Each chapter contains several Knowledge Check questions, which consist of a series of questions that require the reader to apply the material to objective problems. These questions require more than rote memorization because they ask the reader to apply the material. Answers to these questions are provided in Appendix C.
- **Multiple Presentations of Concepts:** Throughout the book, the reader will find a combination of text, pictures, and examples to illustrate various concepts.
- Glossary: Each chapter contains definitions of important terms.
- **Statistical Review and Integration:** Appendix A is a statistics review designed to help students remember and understand basic statistical concepts. Additionally, many chapters have a section that deals with the statistics underlying the topics covered in that chapter.
- **Statistical tables:** Appendix B contains a comprehensive list of commonly used statistical tables.

Supplementary Materials

No textbook is complete without ancillary materials to aid the instructor in introducing course material to students. This is especially important for a text on research methods. Accordingly, a full set of **PowerPoint slides**, a **Test Bank**, and an **instructor's manual** are available to instructors through this book's website on Wiley's Higher Education site at www.wiley.com. Of particular note is the inclusion of a **Research Journal** within the instructor's manual that provides examples of journal articles that supplement the material presented in this book. We would like to thank the journal *Modern Psychological Studies*, and particularly its current editor Dr. David Ross, for allowing us to incorporate published articles as applied examples of research methods in practice.

Acknowledgments

Although we are the authors of the book, we cannot claim that what you will read is our work alone. Many people have had a hand in helping in the preparation of this text and in providing us with the training and resources that have allowed us to become researchers and professors. These people have earned our deepest admiration and continued thanks. Any errors, of course, are our own.

We are especially grateful to our editor at Wiley, Patricia Rossi, who has provided us with extensive feedback and guidance while still giving us the flexibility to produce a book we are proud to call our own. Countless professionals working at John Wiley & Sons, Inc., also deserve our sincere thanks. Specifically, we want to thank Katie DeChants and Kim Nir for their valued time and assistance in developing a professional publication.

Many reviewers read and commented on preliminary drafts of this book. The job of a reviewer is to scold the author for making mistakes and to offer praise only when deserved. The reviewers did their job well. Their comments were often humbling because we had failed to describe something as clearly and accurately as possible. Similarly, their comments flattered us when they found parts of the book that they liked. Consequently, the book you are about to read very much reflects their supportive criticism.

Part I Overview of the Research Process

Chapter 1 Research and the Social Sciences

CHAPTER OBJECTIVES

Introduction Why Is Understanding Research Methods So Important? The Role of Science in Everyday Life The Scientific Method Brief History of the Science of Behavior Bacon's Legacy Other Important Historical Figures Assumptions of Science Requirements for Scientific Research Research in Action: The Case of Facilitated Communication

The whole of science is nothing more than a refinement of everyday thinking. —Albert Einstein

Introduction

Welcome to one of the most critical courses in the curriculum for any degree. A basic understanding of research is especially important in the social sciences. Understanding something as complex as social interactions or human behaviors and cognitions is not easy. Without an empirical, scientific approach to the development of a body of knowledge, our understanding of people will be incomplete and rife with error. Having a solid understanding and appreciation of research methods will help you to fully connect with the field you are preparing yourself for at this very moment. Each of us, your authors, is passionate about research for very different reasons. The three of us are psychologists, but our interests and research overlap with many other areas. As you read this text, an understanding of who we are and where we came from may help you to better place the techniques and concepts related to research methods in context with your own career goals. So you can have some idea of where we are coming from in future chapters, here are brief bios for you to consider:

Bart Weathington

I became an academic and "researcher" in a nontraditional way. Growing up I was always fascinated by science (due in part to some very good teachers along the way). I was also very interested in understanding why people behave the way they do. My dad spent most of his career as an industrial engineer helping to streamline processes and improve industrial efficiency. I knew very early that engineering was not for me, but discussions with my dad about what he did for a living instilled in me an understanding that the most important component of any project is the people involved. I went through seven majors in college before figuring out that psychology was, for me, the best combination of my interests. I lucked into a course on psychology applied to business in my junior year and from that time on I knew that was what I wanted to do. However, I was much more interested in applying knowledge than in creating it.

I went to graduate school with the intention of becoming a consultant upon graduation. I wanted to help organizations solve real-world problems and help individuals maximize their potential. Little did I know that the best way I would find to do this would be to combine teaching, consulting, and research. I discovered that the best way to apply knowledge is to have an understanding of how it was learned in the first place. Understanding research methods is the key to this process. I began my career as a consultant who did a little teaching and research on the side. Now I am a teacher and researcher who consults a little on the side. It is my firm belief (and I hope you will take the same understanding away from this text) that understanding how knowledge is identified, created, and refined (i.e., research methods) will help you make better decisions in the future—whether you become a researcher yourself or if you never conduct your own research study outside of a classroom setting. Being an informed consumer of research is as important as being an informed researcher.

Chris Cunningham

Psychology is in my family, but that's not why I became an Industrial-Organizational (I-O) psychologist. My dad was (and still is) an extremely busy child-and-school psychologist, and my mom is a professor of education at a local college. Thinking about thinking and behavior was probably our favorite pastime and also the source of many dinner-table discussions. This didn't translate into career goals until the summer between my freshman and sophomore years in college. That summer I lived by Lake Champlain in northern Vermont working as a temporary employee in a variety of roles (think ticket sales and light construction). The work was boring and tedious and I spent a lot of time thinking seriously about what kind of work would actually interest and motivate me for the long haul. Ultimately I decided to major in psychology, but this merely left me with the inevitable question, "Now what do I do?" Over the next two summers, I worked as a child-care counselor and psychiatric intern at a residential treatment facility and hospital in Pennsylvania. Although extremely important, this type of work was not personally rewarding. Pouring my heart and soul into providing therapy and assistance to patients, watching them "finish" treatment, and then watching them be readmitted weeks later in worse shape than before really bothered me.

I began to wonder whether there was another way for me to have a positive impact on peoples' lives without working in a clinical setting. Remembering my temporary worker experiences and other jobs I had held, I decided to prepare myself for graduate school in Industrial-Organizational psychology. I wanted to figure out a way to improve people's lives through their work environments. To move toward this goal, I began to focus heavily in graduate school on occupational health and safety issues. The one constant through all of this was my passionate desire to understand something and make things better. (*Continued*)

These interests can be satisfied only with good research, and I learned the skills and techniques for this from my psychology training as an undergraduate and graduate student. This drive to learn something new every day and share that with other people is what gets me out of bed every morning. Having an understanding and appreciation of proper research methods and statistical analyses has allowed me to respond to a wide variety of challenges in my academic and consulting work and I sincerely believe these skills form the core of any social science career.

David Pittenger

I fell in love with psychology in high school when I took a general psychology course. When I entered college I decided to be a psychology major. More specifically, I wanted to be a clinical psychologist. I imagined that I would sit in my office, listen to clients tell me their problems, and then dispense helpful advice. All I needed to do was learn how to do therapy—or so I thought. During my first term at college, I took three courses: a freshman orientation seminar, an introduction to philosophy, and an introduction to psychology. From the first day, the psychology instructor emphasized that psychology is a science and that we would learn how psychologists use the scientific method to understand human behavior. What a shock! I had taken biology, chemistry, and physics in high school. These were sciences-how could anyone confuse psychology with a science? What really startled me was when the instructor told us about the major. After the introductory course, we would have to take a course in statistics and then another course in research methods. Then, in our senior year, we would have to conduct a scientific study related to psychology. Math was never my favorite subject, and I had planned to dodge college-level mathematics as artfully as I could. I began to doubt my decision to major in psychology. Was all this science stuff really for me? Was I in the right major? I wanted to help people. Why did I have to suffer through courses in statistics and research methods? Then something interesting happened. My philosophy course surveyed great ideas in western thought. During the middle of the semester, I realized that my philosophy instructor talked about the same topics as my psychology instructor. For example, in my philosophy course we read sections from Wittgenstein's essay on the meaning of words. In the psychology course we learned how psychologists study children's language development. I recognized then that psychologists study many of the same questions that have confronted the great thinkers throughout history.

When I began graduate school, I still wanted to be a clinical psychologist and hoped to learn how the science of psychology guided therapists to new and effective treatments. By then I was not surprised to learn that my coursework included statistics and research methods. Even the courses in clinical psychology emphasized how psychologists use research to determine the effectiveness of different therapies. When I finished my master's degree, I worked in a residential psychiatric hospital as a counselor. I was a member of a treatment team and offered group and individual therapy under the direction of the ward's psychiatrist. Although I enjoyed my job, I noticed that something was missing. How did we know that our therapy worked? Our clients got better; but did their improvement reflect our efforts, or did they just get better? Other questions nagged at me. Why, for example, do people continue to do something that they have agreed is self-destructive? Why was a specific treatment useful for one client but not another? When I shared my questions with a former professor, his response was, "David, you are asking questions like an experimental psychologist. You want to understand what causes behavior. Go back to graduate school and follow your interests." I did. I returned to graduate school, where I studied the foundations of psychology—learning, memory, and the physiological basis of behavior—and I am now a professor of psychology teaching the courses that I once dreaded.

Why Is Understanding Research Methods So Important?

Although there are differences across specialty fields in the social and behavioral sciences, there are three core types of information that anyone specializing in these areas must know. The first is basic statistics. The second is to understand the proper methods for developing and evaluating psychological tests and surveys researchers use to measure human thought and behavior. The third is how to conduct and interpret high-quality research. In this book, we will help you with the third type of information. Mixed in the chapters we will also remind you of important statistics that might help you along the way. We will also provide you with the basic information needed to begin the test development and evaluation process. If you feel you need a refresher in basic statistics, a review is included in Appendix A.

Why are these three core topics so important? Think about itresearching, analyzing, and reporting are the skills from your education that will help you find a job, keep a job, and make a contribution to society. You can think big thoughts and theorize all day long, but without these three skills, these great ideas will never translate to credible and applicable science. We do not want your good ideas to be restricted by the boundaries of your mind. This is why we all sincerely hope that you are not dreading this course or fearing something nonspecific about science or research. There is nothing scary here; just a systematic approach to learning, understanding, and questioning that will benefit you no matter what you decide to do with your degree once you graduate. There are many ways to study human behaviors and cognitions, but most prefer to use the scientific method in some way, shape, or form. Statistical description and analysis techniques provide structure to these methods, and good test development and utilization provide the conduit through which good research is conducted. In other words, to become a proficient social scientist you must learn to work with the tools of the trade: the scientific method and its attachments, statistics, and tests and assessments.

The Role of Science in Everyday Life

Thought-Starters

What are some examples of science in your life?

Have you "researched" anything today?

What are some big decisions or questions you are currently considering?

H. G. Wells, the nineteenth-century author, predicted that "statistical thinking will one day be as necessary for effective citizenship as the ability to read and write" (as cited by Campbell, 1974). We strongly believe this prediction has come true. Although you may not plan to become a researcher, obtaining and using an advanced degree in any field of the social sciences (and in many areas of life in general) will force you to confront

issues that can be addressed only with the aid of scientific research. Consider the following example issues:

What effect does child care have on child development?

What are the best ways to prevent drug abuse?

Are treatment programs for drug and alcohol abuse effective?

Will a specific test accurately predict how well a person will do on a job?

Will this new drug cure multiple sclerosis?

What is the best way to present new information to a large group of people?

These are clear and direct questions that anyone could ask. Will you send your children to day care? If you do, what will you look for in the program? As a parent, what should you do to discourage your children from using illegal drugs? If you have a management position, should you use personality tests to predict who will be a good employee? These are the types of questions you will face when you start to apply your social sciences training to the real world. Knowledge of the scientific method can be invaluable where the rubber meets the road.

Take, for example, the classic legal case of *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.* (1993). In this case, the Supreme Court ruled that judges, not jury members, must determine the merits and scientific validity of testimony given by expert witnesses. In response to the court's decision, the Federal Judicial Center developed the book *Reference Manual on Scientific Evidence* (1994) to help judges and lawyers understand the principles of research methods and statistics. As the authors of the book noted, "no longer can judges . . . rely on their common sense and experience in evaluating the testimony of many experts. . . . The challenge the justice system faces is to adapt its process to enable the participants to deal with this kind of evidence fairly and efficiently and to render informed decisions" (p. 1). As H. G. Wells predicted, the knowledge of the scientific method is now a vital part of our government and judicial system and therefore our everyday lives.

Apart from knowledge of proper research procedures, there may also be cases where you will have to directly collect and analyze data for your own purposes. Many psychology and sociology majors, for example, want to work in some form of counseling or social service agency. Effective clinical psychology and counseling processes closely follow the scientific method. Giving a psychological test and interviewing a client are forms of data collection. A psychological test is a specialized statistical tool. To understand the results of the test, you will need to understand basic statistical principles. Many clinical psychologists must also conduct outcomes assessment research to evaluate the effectiveness of the treatment they provide (Ogles, Lambert, & Masters, 1996). Taken a step further, those who pay for mental health therapy (e.g., often insurance companies) want to be sure that the cost of such therapy is justified (i.e., that the therapy actually works). For

this reason, mental health providers routinely need to collect, analyze, and report data that demonstrate the effectiveness of their therapies.

You are not alone if you fear statistics and research methods. Many people seem to detest anything related to mathematics and statistics because they do not understand the relevance or importance of these topics to their own lives. We hope that by the time you finish this text you will know that the relevance has been there all the time—understanding how to do good research and work with statistics will be skills you can use for the rest of your life.

The Scientific Method

The scientific method is really the most critical concept in this course for you to remember and understand. Knowing each of the steps in this process and how they are managed will allow you to conduct the highest-quality research possible. Sometimes the most difficult challenge for students in courses such as these is figuring out how to remember the core elements of a topic so that they can then (hopefully) attach some meaning to these elements and retain this knowledge in their long-term memory. Perhaps the easiest way to remember the scientific method from start to finish is to learn the mnemonic *HOMER* (Lakin, Giesler, Morris, & Vosmik, 2007):

- 1. Hypothesize
- 2. Operationalize
- 3. Measure
- 4. Evaluate
- 5. Replicate, revise, report

These are the core steps to the scientific method and they should sound vaguely familiar from middle school and high school science and various introductory social science courses you may have taken. The rest of this text focuses on ensuring you will finish with a working knowledge of all five components.

Brief History of the Science of Behavior

Science is a way of thinking about and explaining the world around us. The scientific method consists of the process used for collecting, analyzing, and drawing conclusions from data. Research methods and statistics are complementary techniques that we use to acquire information and reach reasonable conclusions. When we speak of research methods, we refer to procedures for collecting information. When we speak of statistics, we refer to procedures for organizing, summarizing, and making inferences from the data.

9

Before we get into the real meat of this course, a little history lesson is necessary. It will be relatively painless, we promise. To understand where you are and where you are going, we think it is helpful to first tell you where social science has been and how it has developed. As formalized fields of study, the social sciences are technically young. However, as German psychologist Hermann Ebbinghaus (1850–1909) wrote, "psychology has a long past, but only a short history" (1910, p. 9). How can this be? Well, we know that the Greek philosophers wrote extensively about many familiar topics, including learning, language, memory, and dreams. Although many writers and great thinkers wrote about how they thought the mind works, none conducted anything that we would call an experiment. The problem is that the mental events are difficult to observe and measure. Consequently, many philosophers believed that we could not observe or measure mental events in the same way that we observe or measure physical objects.

This perception exists even today and has resulted in the social sciences being labeled as the "soft" sciences, a term that suggests that other sciences such as chemistry and physics (the so-called "hard" sciences) are more accurate or empirically valid. Interestingly, essentially identical methods are utilized across all of these scientific fields (Hedges, 1987). It is the subject matter that sets the social sciences apart. Properly designed and implemented research in the social sciences can be as valid and replicable as any other research. Historically, though, before this research could be conducted, a profound shift in studying human social interaction and behavior had to occur.

Although Greek philosophers had a profound effect on the generations of scholars who followed them, it was not until the questioning of these ancient authorities that the scientific revolution occurred. During this revolution, seventeenth-century scientists decided that there was more to learn about nature than the ancient philosophers had described in their writings. One of the more articulate spokespersons for the new scientific revolution was Sir Francis Bacon. Much of the scientific method as we know it today evolved to overcome and protect us from several basic human biases or "idols" that Bacon (1620/1994) outlined in his seminal book on this topic.

Interestingly, Sir Francis Bacon (1561–1626) was not a scientist, but rather a British politician. He was interested, however, in the developments of empirical science and became one of its strongest proponents. In 1620, he published a book on the scientific method titled *Novum Organum* ("the new instrument"). Bacon saw the scientific method as a better path to good answers. Like many of his contemporaries, Bacon distrusted the wholesale belief in everything that the ancient philosophers had to say. He (Bacon, 1620/1994) wrote, "For the ancients . . . out of a few examples and particulars, with the addition of common notions and perhaps some portion of the most popular received opinions, they flew to the most general conclusions or principles of the sciences . . . through intermediate propositions, they extracted and proved inferior conclusions" (p. 127). In essence, Bacon accused the earlier philosophers of making hasty generalizations that have

little or no merit. He also argued that to comprehend the physical world, we must use the scientific method to ask and answer questions.

Bacon's most important and lasting contribution to the history of science may be his discussion of common human biases that can cause us to make irrational decisions or ignore important information. According to Bacon, there are four main human biases that hinder our ability to think clearly. He referred to each of these biases as the **Idols of the Tribe**, **Cave**, **Marketplace**, and **Theatre**. Bacon's observations were as insightful in their own time (early 1600s) as they are now. Indeed, we continue to rely on the scientific method, statistics, critical thinking, and analysis skills to overcome the obstacles to learning that each of these idols creates.

Idols of the Tribe

The first source of bias described by Bacon was our human tendency to rely on intuition and common sense to reach conclusions. Bacon (1620/1994) suggested that:

The Idols of the Tribe *lie deep in human nature itself and* . . . *it is wrongly asserted that the human sense is the measure of all things. It is rather the case that all our perceptions* . . . *are reflections of man [sic]* not of the universe, and the human understanding is like an uneven mirror that cannot reflect truly the rays from objects, but distorts and corrupts the nature of things by mingling its own nature with it. (p. 56)

Bacon recognized that many people have a tendency to believe that what they see and how they interpret events is accurate, and that their common sense is well informed and infallible. This tendency leads us to selectively perceive events around us, trust our first impressions, and then uncritically use those impressions to make decisions.

A common example of the Idols of the Tribe is a **self-fulfilling prophecy.** A self-fulfilling prophecy occurs when we believe something is true and our beliefs then influence the way we perceive and react to specific events to confirm our beliefs (Baron, Graziano, & Stangor, 1991). In most cases, we are unaware of how our attitudes affect our behavior. Moreover, when we believe something to be true, we tend to remember events that agree with our beliefs and forget or ignore events that disagree with our beliefs. At the heart of the problem is that our preconceived ideas have considerable influence on how we interpret and react to different situations.

Many researchers (e.g., Nisbett & Ross, 1980; Rosnow & Rosenthal, 1997) have examined the shortcomings of human decision making. The consensus among researchers is that humans tend to rely too much on intuition and common sense to make decisions. Another example of the Idols of the Tribe is the **gambler's fallacy**. If a person tosses a coin three times in a row and gets heads each time, most people believe that the fourth toss of the coin *must* be tails. Some people will argue, "It makes *good common sense* that you cannot have four heads tossed in a row!" However, the probability that the coin will land heads on the next toss is fixed at 50% (unless the coin is weighted). Many people make this error because they

trust their intuition and preconceived beliefs about probability; that is a sure way to lose a lot of money at the gambling tables. In summary, the Idols of the Tribe refers to the human tendency to depend too much on common sense and to the tendency to make consistent errors in logical reasoning. *Why do you think this is a problem for science to avoid?*

Idols of the Cave

This second source of bias is formed from the effect of our exposure to culture, common practice, and education on our processing of information. According to Bacon (1620/1994), our life experiences shape how we look at things. Although our experiences are valuable, there are important sources of limitations. As Bacon (1620/1994) described them, "The *Idols of the Cave* arise from the individual's particular nature, both of mind and body, and come also from education, habits and by chance. Though there are many different kinds, we cite those which call for the greatest caution, and which do most to pollute clear understanding" (p. 61).

The problem with personal experience is that it is personal, unique to you. Chances are that your background and our backgrounds are very different. Who is to say which of us has a more *valid* or accurate worldview? Each of us has experienced different important events in our lives. These events shape our beliefs and perceptions and affect how we perceive things. Although these beliefs and perceptions make us unique, we need to recognize their effect on our decision making and reasoning. Karl Popper (1902–1994), a famous philosopher, provided an interesting example of depending too much on personal experience. Early in his career, Popper worked with the psychotherapist, Alfred Adler, who had developed a comprehensive theory of personality development based on his clinical experiences. Popper (1963) described the following episode:

Once . . . I reported to him [Adler] a case which to me did not seem particularly Adlerian, but he found no difficulty in analyzing in terms of his theory of inferiority feelings, although he had not even seen the child. Slightly shocked, I asked him how he could be so sure. "Because of my thousand fold experience," he replied; whereupon I could not help saying: "And with this new case, I suppose, your experience has become thousand-andone fold." (p. 35)

The problem relevant to our discussion is Adler's use of personal experience. That Adler was a professional psychoanalyst does not mean that his experiences are automatically valid. A moment's thought will reveal the limitation of personal experience. Adler was a therapist and treated people suffering various psychological problems. His patients were hardly representative of the general population, and, therefore, not the foundation for a comprehensive theory of personality development that describes all people. The Idols of the Cave refers to the fact that we too often depend on our personal experiences to determine why things happen as they do. As we will soon see, we must do more than merely rely on personal experience to develop scientific explanations. *Why might this be a problem for scientific research?*

Idols of the Marketplace

The third bias that Bacon examined involves our use of language. Turning to Bacon (1620/1994), we read, "The Idols of the Market-place [sic] are the most troublesome of all; these are idols that have crept into the understanding through the alliance of words and names" (p. 64). Bacon recognized that our use of words shapes how we think about things. Consider an example related to day care for children. Scarr, Phillips, and McCartney (1990) noted that during the 1950s and 1960s, developmental psychologists who studied the effect of child care examined the effects of maternal absence or maternal deprivation. Clearly, these emotionally charged phrases create a negative bias against women who choose to pursue a career while their children are infants and toddlers. Why use these phrases as if the mother deprived her children of food and water? What about the father's absence? If children suffer maternal deprivation, why don't they suffer *paternal deprivation* as well? Could it be that fathers are guilt-free because societal norms allow men to work outside the home? Furthermore, the words *absence* and *deprivation* evoke images of children warehoused in dangerous day-care centers. Scarr and her colleagues argued that these terms grew out of "fantasies about child development . . . mother-infant attachment . . . and the role of early experience for later development" (p. 255). These terms fell out of favor during the 1970s, when the rights of women to pursue a career became popular. Researchers then began to examine the benefits of day care. Thus, the Idols of the Marketplace reflect the power of language over our thought processes. How could this be a limitation to good science?

Idols of the Theatre

The last of Bacon's idols represents the effects of our education. Here we find Bacon (1620/1994) complaining that many of the things we learn may mislead us. "The Idols of the Theatre, on the other hand, are not innate, nor are they secretly insulated into the understanding, but are imposed and received entirely from the fictitious tales in theories, and from wrong-headed laws of demonstration" (p. 66). In other words, the Idols of the Theatre are illustrated any time we accept an explanation without critically evaluating it first. In many cases, we automatically accept certain explanations because we learned them from someone we trust or see as an authority figure. Countless "scientific" theories have enjoyed this kind of dubious honor, including the now-debunked notions that the earth is the center of the universe and the world is flat. Apart from these seemingly ancient ideas, commonly accepted notions are all around us. Perhaps the best illustration of this is in Kohn's (1990) book on popular beliefs, in which he describes various common beliefs and their fallacy, including "No pain, no gain," "Competition builds character," "Like father, like son," and "Playing hard to get makes one more attractive."

A classic example of this bias can be found in Garcia's (1980) research on taste aversion. His experiments on taste aversion revealed that several well-established principles of classical conditioning were not accurate. Unfortunately, many psychologists did not accept Garcia's conclusions because the results contradicted the prevailing theories of classical conditioning. Garcia found it difficult to publish his papers in scholarly journals, and many reviewers ridiculed his work. In retrospect, Garcia's research has had a monumental effect on our understanding of classical conditioning principles. The defining characteristic of the Idols of the Theatre is our tendency to accept the truth of a statement without criticism. The best defense against this source of bias is simply to always think critically about what someone is asking you to believe. *Why can this be a problem?*

Bacon's Legacy

Bacon's primary legacy is that he clearly identified the obstacles to critical thinking as they apply to science even today. Although the scientific method has been around for 400 years, the effects of his idols remain. Each of us can fall prey to the idols. Studying Bacon will help you understand why researchers use specific tactics when conducting their research. Researchers use research methods and statistics to overcome many forms of bias. By studying Bacon, you will learn that you can never become complacent with your knowledge. The lesson we can learn from Bacon is that the Idols of the Tribe, Cave, Marketplace, and Theatre are always present, and we guard against these biases whenever we utilize the scientific method to study and explain the behavior of people. Take some time to review Table 1.1 and think of examples of Bacon's idols.

Other Important Historical Figures

The goal of this text is not to provide you with a history of science or a comprehensive listing of individuals who have influenced scientific thought. However, a brief review of two additional individuals (Gustav T. Fechner and John B. Watson) will help to illustrate the development of

Idols of the Tribe	Biases due to overreliance on common sense and the tendency to make errors in logical reasoning.
Idols of the Cave	Biases due to dependence on personal experience to explain why things occur the way they do.
Idols of the Marketplace Idols of the Theatre	Biases due to how we use specific words to describe things. Biases due to uncritical acceptance of explanations that people in authority tell us are true.

Table 1.1 Review of Bacon's Idols

current views of research methods. Many other individuals could be listed and discussed here. It is no coincidence that both Fechner and Watson were picked for this discussion. Both contributed directly to the development of experimental psychology as a scientific field of study. Considering that all of the authors of this text are psychologists, this could be viewed as an example of one of Bacon's idols at work. Which of the idols do you think fits best in explaining this?

On October 22, 1850, *Gustav T. Fechner* (1801–1887) invented experimental psychology by discovering a way to measure mental events. All science relies on measurement, which is nothing more than assigning numbers to observations. All sciences have specific methods for measuring the phenomena they study. However, before October 22, 1850, psychologists had no objective method for measuring mental events. Fechner studied physics and human perception. In his research, he observed that there was not a one-to-one relation between the intensity of a stimulus and our perception of the stimulus. For example, imagine a friend asks you to hold out your hand and close your eyes. If your friend puts a pencil on your hand, you will notice its weight. Now imagine your friend putting this textbook on your hand. You will feel the weight of the book. What if your friend then places the same pencil on top of the book? You will probably not be able to detect the additional weight. Why are you able to feel the weight of the pencil in one situation but not the other?

Fechner reasoned that by studying the relation between changes in the intensity of a stimulus (a physical event) and changes in a person's perception (a mental event) he could study how the mind works. He then proceeded to conduct a series of famous experiments that we now recognize as the start of *psychophysics*. Fechner's experiments may not sound like the most exciting thing that you learned today. Nevertheless, his work is very important because it caused people to recognize that it is possible to study mental events using empirical techniques. Soon after Fechner published his work, other researchers began to study psychological processes. For instance, upon reading Fechner's book, Hermann Ebbinghaus began to conduct his famous research on memory. It did not take long until the science of psychology became common practice.

John B. Watson (1878–1958) is another important person in the history of psychology. In 1913, Watson wrote an influential paper titled "Psychology as the Behaviorist Views It." The paper began with the proclamation, "Psychology as the behaviorist views it is a purely objective experimental branch of natural science. Its theoretical goal is the prediction and control of behavior" (p. 158). This statement seems obvious now, but the historical relevance of Watson's paper is that he wrote his paper at a critical moment in the history of psychology, and his comments about the purpose of psychology did much to shape how psychologists now study psychological processes (Murray, 1983).

At the start of the twentieth century, psychology was a young science, and psychologists were searching for the best methods to conduct scientific research. At the time, many psychologists used a procedure known as **introspection.** *Introspection* means to examine or look within. Whenever you think about your own thinking and mental events, you are using a form of introspection. Try this experiment in introspection: What reactions do you have when you read the word *mother*? Although introspection can be revealing, it has several shortcomings. Take a moment to think of a few.

Perhaps the most troubling question is, *How do we know that the self-report is accurate*? When you are asked to introspect about something, will you report everything that occurs to you? Is it possible that thinking of your mother evokes a painful memory that you do not want to share? How complete is your report? Although you may report things of which you are aware, could there be reactions that you did not recognize as important and worthy to share with others? Is it possible that there are unconscious mental processes that you do not directly experience? Psychologists' use of introspection troubled Watson because there is no way to verify the accuracy of an introspective report. The problem with introspection is that only one person can *experience or observe* your mental events—you. In science, researchers want to examine phenomena that others can see when they use the same procedures.

There are other problems with introspection. To what extent does vour introspection influence the mental events you wish to study? Does thinking about your thinking affect your thinking? Are you confused? Try another thought experiment. Can you read and introspect about the process of reading at the same time? If you are like us, reading for content while introspecting is impossible. As soon as we start examining the process of reading, we are no longer reading. When we read for content, we cannot introspect. What are some other problems with introspection? Can you ask an infant to introspect? Can children ages 7 or 8 provide objective observations of their mental events? What about a person with depression or schizophrenia; will their introspections be accurate? If introspection requires objective and knowledgeable self-analysis, then we cannot use introspection to study children, people with severe psychological disorders, or animals. Watson (1913) rejected introspection as a research tool and recommended that psychologists study behavior exclusively. He believed that by focusing on behavior, psychologists could engage in the objective study of all living creatures. For Watson, if you can observe the behavior, then you can conduct scientific research.

Watson's legacy to psychology is that he focused our attention on behavior. Watson has had a lasting impact on all research involving the study of behavior and social interaction. Many researchers today subscribe to the perspective of **methodological behaviorism**, a philosophical stance evolving from Watson's beliefs. Methodological behaviorism suggests that researchers should study overt and observable behaviors as the primary focus of their research. Researchers use observable behaviors to make inferences about the emotional, cognitive, and other mental processes that occur within a person. As you will learn in this and other courses, behavior is the focal point of research in the social sciences. A developmental psychologist examining the memory of infants will conduct experiments that examine the infants' behavior. A social psychologist examining altruism examines behavior. A clinical psychologist who studies depression also examines behavior. A criminologist may look at the behavior of prisoners. An economist may look at the behavior of rational or irrational investors. Following Fechner's and Watson's lead, we use the observable behavior of individuals to make inferences about various mental or cognitive events.

Assumptions of Science

Underlying everything we have discussed so far are two core assumptions that can be found built into any good research study. All sciences make the same basic assumptions about their subject matter. Social scientists take these assumptions to be true and use them to justify their use of the scientific method to study behavior.

Behavior Is Determined

Our first assumption is quite possibly the most important. We believe that behaviors are caused or triggered by specific factors. This perspective is known as **determinism** and someone who believes this (that all behaviors have a knowable set of causes) can be referred to as a *determinist*. You will learn that almost all researchers are determinists of one form or another. Sigmund Freud (1856–1939), for example, was a *psychical* determinist because he believed that human behavior reflected a series of unconscious drives and motivations. He believed that there are no accidents of behavior—everything we do reveals something about our character and unconscious drives.

By contrast, B. F. Skinner (1904–1990) was an *environmental* determinist because he believed that an individual's interaction with the environment produces changes in behavior. Other researchers are *biological* determinists because they believe that biological processes control many behaviors. Finally, some researchers are *sociocultural* determinists because they believe that cultural traditions, customs, and regulations control people's lives. When you examine different fields of study, such as human development, social behavior, abnormal behavior, or psychophysiology, you will find that researchers in each area conduct research to find the things that determine behavior. Regardless of their perspective, each type of determinist believes that by observing behavior and the surrounding conditions we can infer the causes of the behavior.

Some people object to determinism and suggest that human behavior is subject to **free will**. The principle of free will states that a person's soul or mind controls how he or she acts. Many religious faiths and philosophy theories suggest that humans are special because we have a spirit and self-awareness that guides us through life. These religions also teach us that we have the freedom to choose between the good and virtuous, or the evil and sinister. Thus, at first glance it appears that there is quite a contrast between determinism and free will. Belief in determinism holds that we can explain observable behaviors by looking for and examining material causes. By contrast, belief in free will holds that each person is unique and that we cannot use the scientific method to understand human behavior.

It is not helpful to pit determinism versus free will. If you are willing to accept that people share some basic characteristics, then you will find that the scientific method does a good job of finding the causes of those common behaviors. Science does not have all the answers to important questions. Science, religion, philosophy, literature, and the arts are all different ways of knowing and experiencing our world. Each answers a unique set of questions using a different perspective. As Gould (1999) noted, science and religion are two ways of knowing. Both are equally important, yet both answer different questions. Taking a scientific perspective allows us to understand how things work, and when studying human behavior this means trying to discover why people do what they do. Religion helps us to examine our values and discover how we should behave. For many people, science and religion are not competing forces, but rather complementary methods for addressing different issues of importance. In the same vein, determinism and free will can be viewed as complementary and not always competing views.

We Can Measure the Critical Variables

A second assumption of science is that we can directly or indirectly observe the important causes of behavior. All sciences rest on a foundation of measurement. Fechner's insights allowed psychology to become a science because he realized that we could use a person's behavior to make inferences about mental events. Physicists, chemists, and other scientists routinely use observable events to make inferences about the existence of things that they cannot directly observe. For example, no one has seen gravity, only its effects. Nevertheless, physicists can use the motion of the planets and stars to infer that there is gravity and to describe its effects. We as social scientists often study behavioral events and situations to make inferences about interpersonal and intrapersonal events that we do not fully understand and perhaps cannot directly observe.

Requirements for Scientific Research

Now it is time to focus on specific elements of research that when combined allow us to "be scientific" when doing research.

Empirical Analysis

Empirical analysis involves the gathering of data by observation and experimentation with the goal of learning something. One important

characteristic of empirical analysis is that it involves **measurement**, or the converting of observations into numbers. There are many different types of measurement, but just about all can be grouped as either self- or otherobservation, in which we use our own senses or someone else uses his or her own senses to collect information on how we interact with our environments.

Empirical methods are not the only way to gain insight into challenging questions. Within the social sciences, just about everything we "know" has come from scientists' efforts to observe and experience the phenomena of interest. Contrast this method with other ways of knowing. Mathematicians, for example, do not use empirical analysis, but instead discover new ideas using deduction and formal proofs. Here is an example of the difference between the empirical method of knowing and the mathematical way of knowing. Imagine that you have 10 quarters in your hand and toss them in the air. What is the probability of obtaining 0, 1, 2, 3, . . . or 10 heads? There are two ways of finding the answer. The first method is empirical. You would toss the 10 coins, count the heads, and then repeat these steps several thousand times until you had enough samples to make a relatively accurate conclusion about the probability of each outcome. You will eventually come to the correct answer, if you are willing to spend the hours of drudgery tossing and counting coins.

The second method uses deductive logic and analytical techniques. If you know enough about probability theory and your way around mathematical proofs, you can derive an equation that gives you the correct answer. There is nothing wrong with either method, although most people find the mathematical solution more elegant and convenient. There are many times, however, when the analytical method does not work and the empirical method is the only alternative. We can use mathematics to solve the coin problem because we know several critical things to be true, such as the fact that each coin has a 50% chance of landing heads. From these facts, we can derive additional truths. Thus, the deductive method works well when we have the necessary information before us to solve a problem. *In many cases we do not have this information.* Consequently, we must go about gathering data so that we can answer the question. In other words, empirical and deductive methods both have strengths and weaknesses.

The following is an example that illustrates the potential weakness of sole reliance on deductive logic:

- 1. All psychologists are human.
- 2. We are all psychologists.
- 3. Therefore, we must all be human.

Although extremely simple, this example illustrates a categorical syllogism that contains two premises (Statements 1 and 2) and a conclusion (Statement 3). In deductive logic, if we accept the premises and use the

appropriate rules of logic, then the conclusion is true. Now consider the deduction:

- 1. All unicorns are purple.
- 2. Annie is a unicorn.
- 3. Therefore, Annie is purple.

The conclusion about Annie's color is logically consistent if we accept the premises. This example illustrates a potential problem with finding answers by deductive logic or pure reason. If we accept the premises of an argument, then we must accept the truth of logically consistent conclusions. In the example of the unicorn, the conclusion is valid although it has no bearing in truth—unless you can find a living purple unicorn. Sir Francis Bacon and many others recognized that deductive logic can lead to erroneous conclusions based on a false or unproven premise. Consequently, scientists who utilize empirical methods attempt to verify the truth of premises with gathered data. In other words, if we can obtain observable evidence that unicorns exist and are purple, *then* we can conclude that Annie is purple.

Public Verification

Public verification is another important feature of empirical research. Using the empirical method requires us to rely on our senses when gathering data. If we design our research so that it can be publicly verified, then we are measuring things in a way that others can replicate with similar results. Therefore, public verification implies that anyone who uses the same procedure should be able to observe the same general outcome. Watson (1913) emphasized this requirement of good science when he called for all psychologists to drop introspection and adopt the study of behavior. Studying your own mind is fine, but this pretty much ensures you will be the only researcher who can experience your thoughts and make your observations. In other words, your mental events would not be subject to public verification. Your behavior and actions, however, are things that can be observed by anyone. Using a video camera, we can record your interactions with friends and family members and any researcher can share those observations. We can also attach sensors to your body and monitor your heart rate, the sweat on your palms, and the electrical activity of your brain. We can give you a personality test as a way to measure how you perceive yourself. In each case, we have collected public information that others can verify. Public verification also means that anyone with the appropriate equipment can repeat an experiment. This facet of public verification is extremely important. Our ability to repeat or replicate experiments gives us greater confidence in the general applicability of our results. The more times we can repeat an experiment and obtain similar results, the more likely we are to agree that an effect we observed is real and not just a fluke, due to chance.

Systematic Observation

Systematic observation refers to the way we go about collecting information. Whenever we collect data, we want to make our observations under specific conditions, as we attempt to rule out alternative explanations for the outcomes we might be observing. Imagine that a psychotherapist claims that a new form of therapy helps depressed people. Although this claim sounds great, we need to determine its truth. We can do this using systematic observation. For example, we should determine whether the treatment produces better results than could be achieved with no treatment or a placebo treatment. To do this study, we could subject a large sample of depressed people to one of three conditions: no treatment, a **placebo** treatment, and the new therapy.

In this example, the systematic observation comes into play as we measure differences in our participants' levels of depression under each of the three different treatment conditions. Another way that we can use systematic observation is to compare the new therapy to other current psychotherapies being used by other clinicians. For this type of research, we want to determine whether the therapy is in some way better than other forms of therapy. Yet another way to use systematic observation is to determine whether the therapy works better with some people than others. Thus, we would conduct studies comparing the differences among men and women; children, adults, and the elderly; or people who are or are not taking antidepressant medication.

The overarching goal of systematic observation is to examine a particular phenomenon under as many relevant situations as possible. We continue to repeat our observations and experiments to determine which conditions consistently produce the effect and what other possible factors aside from the treatment might influence the phenomenon. Unfortunately, many people do not recognize the necessity of systematic observation, tending instead to accept testimonials and/or personal opinions without question. Testimonials are not a form of systematic observation, although they are often treated as such. Testimonials are nothing more than an example of Bacon's Idols of the Theatre. When people make a claim like this, we are supposed to believe what they say. Testimonials are also an example of the Idols of the Cave because they reflect personal experience. Watch any infomercial on television and you will hear many happy customers share their personal experiences with the product: "My life was really going nowhere fast until I enrolled in Research Methods. Now I'm 'the king of the world!'" Good researchers shy away from putting too much emphasis or weight on testimonial claims that are neither systematic nor objective. How does this help them conduct better research?

Control of the Environment

In all forms of research, we attempt to exercise **control of the environment** in some way. We do this to ensure that the conditions in which we make our observations are consistent and can be replicated by other researchers who might wish to verify our findings. Researchers have the greatest level of control when they conduct research in a laboratory setting because they can control many or all external environmental conditions. This control helps to reduce the number of possible factors that might influence a participant's behavior, thoughts, or feelings. There are many cases, however, in which direct control of the research environment is not possible. This is especially true when a **field study** is being conducted, but even here a true researcher will try to ensure as much as possible that the environment is the same each time he or she collects data from that sample.

Rational Explanation

A **rational explanation** refers to the two basic assumptions of science: (1) behavior is determined and (2) behavior follows a lawful pattern that can be studied. Rational explanations of behavior, therefore, include two essential components. The first is that the explanation refers only to causes that one can observe or confirm through public verification. The second is that the explanation makes a clear and logical link between the cause and effect. Explanations that are not rational are not scientific. Instead, these are typically called **pseudoexplanations** because although they may sound like sophisticated explanations of some phenomenon, they do not improve our understanding in any way. A pseudoexplanation is also commonly referred to as a **nominal fallacy** or a **tautological** or **circular explanation**, referring to the tendency to use the phenomenon to define itself. Thus, a pseudoexplanation is an example of the Idols of the Tribe, as it appeals to our desire for commonsense explanations.

For example, a typical early definition of a *reinforcer* was *a stimulus*, *produced by a behavior*, *that increases the probability that the individual will repeat the behavior*. This explanation is circular because there is no independent definition of the reinforcer. The definition uses the effect of reinforcement to define the property of reinforcement. Why is this technique a problem? Consider the following exchange:

QUESTION: "What is a reinforcer?"

ANSWER: "A reinforcer is anything that increases the probability of a behavior."

QUESTION: "How do we know that something is a reinforcer?" ANSWER: "Because it increased the probability of a behavior." QUESTION: "Why did the probability of the behavior increase?" ANSWER: "Because we used a reinforcer." QUESTION: "But what is a reinforcer?"

The problem with this cycle is that we have no way of defining the reinforcer without referring to the behavior it affects. In other words, this type of definition tells us nothing about why a reinforcer works. Using the definition of reinforcement does not allow us to predict what things will serve as effective reinforcers. This definition also does not explain why a reinforcer will increase the probability of reinforcement.

Fortunately, David Premack (1959, 1965) discovered that highfrequency behaviors can reinforce low-frequency behaviors (the Premack principle). The advantage of this definition is that it breaks the circular definition, defining the cause as independent from the effect. More specifically, Premack's theory states that any high-frequency voluntary behavior will reinforce a low-frequency voluntary behavior. According to this definition of reinforcement, we can take several behaviors and categorically predict which will and will not be reinforcers. Consider this example: "For Alex, playing video games is a high-frequency behavior and studying math is a low-frequency behavior. Therefore, playing video games will serve as a reinforcer for studying math." We predict that video game playing is a reinforcer because it is a high-frequency behavior. We can then verify this hypothesis with an empirical test by allowing Alex to play video games only if he spends more time studying math. If there is an increase in the amount of time spent studying math (the effect), we can then say that the reinforcement (playing video games) caused the change.

Another feature of a rational explanation is that a researcher can empirically test and determine whether an explanation is correct. What if your professor told you that there is a special energy force that affects the brains of some people and causes them to be schizophrenic? The first question you should ask is, "Where's the empirical evidence?" What if the professor told you that no known apparatus can detect the radiation? At this point, you should realize that your professor is either losing his own mind or offering you a classic pseudoexplanation. A better explanation is one that is objectively defined in a way that can be supported with observational data by you and other researchers who may wish to replicate your work. Indeed, many researchers have tested the accuracy of the Premack principle. Some have verified Premack's predictions, whereas others have not (Mazur, 1998). Using the results of these experiments, Timberlake and Allison (1974) were able to refine Premack's definition and offer a more comprehensive definition of reinforcement.

Parsimonious Explanation

In addition to being rational, scientists strive to make explanations *parsimonious*. **Parsimony** means simplicity. If you have difficulty remembering this concept, try to link it in your mind visually to a big fat kiss and remember that that kiss represents the "Keep It Simple, Stupid!" principle. In the present context, a scientific conclusion or explanation is parsimonious if it makes relatively few assumptions, does not refer to unobservable causes, and refers to specific causes. This requirement is also known as **Occam's razor**. Consider an example from the history of psychology. For a long time, psychologists who followed Freud believed that schizophrenia resulted from severe conflict within a person's unconscious stemming from psychological abnormalities in the person's development.

Now, many psychologists believe that much of schizophrenia reflects imbalances in various neurotransmitters in the brain. This biological account of schizophrenia is more parsimonious than Freud's because of the number of assumptions and unobservable constructs that the latter theory requires. Freud's theory depends on a large number of intrapsychic processes (e.g., id, ego, and superego) as well as a host of other conditions such as the "schizophrenicgenic mother." Psychologists cannot measure these constructs objectively. By contrast, the biological theory is relatively parsimonious because its states that schizophrenia results from imbalances in specific neurotransmitters. Researchers can measure these neurotransmitters and regulate them with medication. Furthermore, regulation of these neurotransmitters corresponds with changes in a person's schizophrenic symptoms. Please realize that we are *not* saying that simplicity automatically makes a theory correct. Instead, a parsimonious theory allows for specific predictions that researchers can directly test. Its value to science is its ability to generate many ideas for specific research projects.

Tentative Explanations

Whenever a researcher presents the results of a study, the explanation of the results is **tentative.** No single study can account for all the potential explanations of the results. You can think of any single study as a small step in a long journey. Although each step may take us closer to our goal, it may also take us in the wrong direction. Consider the previously mentioned biological theory of schizophrenia. Although the theory is useful, it is not complete. Researchers recognize that schizophrenia is a complex set of behaviors that requires careful analysis. Although the neurotransmitter theory is useful, psychologists who study schizophrenia continue to look for additional explanations for this disorder.

As you read more about psychology, you will learn that researchers are continually revising their explanations for why things work the way they do. The change occurs because each study adds new information. Some new information may confirm what we already know and so we continue to use the theory to explain the phenomenon we study. Other new information, however, may indicate that the theory cannot account for specific events and must be revised or replaced. Therefore, psychologists recognize that explanations of behavior are as good as the data they have collected. Researchers recognize that as new data are collected, they may have to revise their explanations or develop new explanations.

Now that we have reviewed the general tenets of experimental psychology, we can look at a practical application of research methods in psychology. The following example illustrates the errors that people can make when they do not use the scientific method to examine a problem. In addition, the example shows how the scientific method can resolve a serious controversy.

Research in Action: The Case of Facilitated Communication

Autism is a distressing condition. Children with autism are withdrawn and do not show normal signs of social or cognitive development. Raising an

autistic child is challenging because the child requires exceptional patience and much attention. Although there are many treatments for autism, these programs are time consuming and expensive. Several years ago, a new procedure called *facilitated communication* became popular among people who treat autism. The theory behind facilitated communication is that people who have autism have unique mental barriers blocking their normal communication (Biklen, 1990). According to Biklen, a person with autism can communicate better with the help of a trained facilitator. The person with autism uses a keyboard to type messages. The facilitator helps by holding the autistic person's hand or arm. Biklen believed that the physical contact of the facilitation helps the autistic person focus his or her thoughts and express them through the keyboard. Although the facilitator holds the client's hand or arm, they claim that they do not influence what the child types.

Facilitated communication guickly became a popular treatment for people with autism. Many therapists attended seminars where they learned to become certified facilitators. Several schools and residential facilities incorporated facilitated communication into the treatment programs for their clients. Those who used facilitated communication often gave vivid and emotional testimonials of how facilitated communication was a godsend. Parents discovered that after many agonizing years they could finally communicate with their children. Teachers discovered that their autistic students were bright and talented people. By all accounts, facilitated communication appeared to break through the barriers of autism and liberate the person within. Although facilitated communication appeared to be a phenomenal treatment for autism, several researchers were skeptical (e.g., Hudson, Melita, & Arnold, 1993; Montee, Miltenberger, & Wittrock, 1995; Moore, Donovan, & Hudson, 1993; Wheeler, Jacobson, Paglieri, & Schwartz, 1993). These skeptics began to ask critical questions regarding the claims about facilitated communication and suggested the need for controlled experiments to determine whether facilitated communication worked.

Why is skepticism important in science? Sometimes skeptics seem to be more of a nuisance than anything. Skeptics seem to ask questions for the sake of asking questions and dismiss what seems to be a good thing. Despite these characterizations, skepticism is essential in science as it helps to ensure that we are not tricked into believing in something that is not true. Why was it important to test the claims of facilitated communication, especially if the children seemed to benefit from the treatment and the parents and teachers thought that the treatment worked? How would you go about determining whether facilitated communication allowed the child to communicate through the facilitator? How would you show that it was not the facilitator typing the child's responses? Facilitated communication appeared to work and showed that people with autism were bright individuals and could interact with others.

The problem is that perception can be deceiving. Just because people with autism appeared to communicate does not mean that the treatment

worked as advertised. The skeptics argued that facilitated communication needed to be tested under controlled conditions to rule out alternative explanations. When a scientist observes that a treatment works it is also necessary to ensure that that effect results from the unique characteristics of the treatment itself and not other factors. To accomplish this, Montee et al. (1995) conducted an experiment in which the facilitator and the autistic person sat at a table. On the table was a large T-shaped screen that kept the facilitator and the autistic person each from seeing what the other saw. The researcher showed both people pictures and asked the person with autism to type what he or she had seen. The facilitator then helped with the typing as he or she normally would. As an example, the researcher might show both people a photograph of a cat. We would expect that the autistic person would indicate that he or she had seen a cat or at least an animal. The real test came when each person saw a different photograph. For example, the facilitator may see a picture of a car and the person with autism may see a picture of a hamburger. Remember that the facilitator did not see the same picture that the autistic person saw and vice versa. The results of this test are critical. If the person with autism indicated that he or she saw a hamburger, a sandwich, food, or lunch, we would have evidence that the facilitated communication worked. However, if the person said that he or she saw a car, we must conclude that the person doing the typing was the facilitator, not the person with autism.

The results of these experiments were clear; the person doing the typing was the facilitator, not the person with autism. When the researcher presented different pictures, the response always corresponded with what the facilitator saw, not what the client saw. Montee et al. (1995) replicated the findings of many other studies that examined the validity of facilitated communication. These experiments used different pairs of facilitators and clients, different pictures, and different techniques for presenting the pictures. The results were the same, however. There was no convincing evidence that facilitated communication worked to help people with autism. Consequently, facilitated communication has lost favor among professionals in the field. A formal statement of the issues associated with facilitated communication as related to practicing psychologists can be found in a statement published (and available online) by the American Psychological Association (1994).

One of the most important lessons to be learned from this example is the importance of skepticism and empirical research. We cannot always take the results we receive at face value. This is, after all, the main reason for public verification and replication. At first glance, facilitated communication seemed to be a great intervention, and many people were quick to adopt the new treatment as a way of solving a longstanding problem. What would have happened if no one intervened and questioned the value of facilitated communication? How much money would people have paid for a treatment that did not work? How long would people with autism be deprived of treatment programs that really do work? Empirical skepticism determined the limitations of facilitated communication.

Chapter Summary

This chapter introduced you to research methods by briefly examining the history of science as it relates to research methods and by offering an overview of the meaning of scientific research. The goal of this chapter was to illustrate that studying research methods is an important component of any student's education, especially students in the behavioral sciences. Researchers use the scientific method to conduct basic research to understand various behavioral phenomena. Research methods also have many practical applications. Regardless of your current or future career objectives, it is important to understand the foundations of science and research methods.

Sir Francis Bacon was an early advocate of empirical science. He believed that the scientific method would overcome several human tendencies that are obstacles to a better understanding of our world. He called these tendencies *idols* and identified four specific ones: *Idols of the Tribe* (common modes of thought that lead to irrational conclusions), *Idols of the Cave* (overreliance on personal experiences), *Idols of the Marketplace* (biases in beliefs based on the meaning and use of words), and *Idols of the Theatre* (biased thought based on tradition, habit, or deference to authority).

We credit Gustav T. Fechner as the first experimental psychologist because on October 22, 1850, he recognized that researchers could indirectly observe or make inferences about mental events by observing reactions to physical stimuli. John Watson's contribution to research was his insistence that behavior is the proper target of research and that introspection is not a useful procedure for science. The objective study of behavior allows researchers to understand behavioral and cognitive phenomena. Therefore, many researchers in the behavioral and social sciences are methodological behaviorists.

Researchers believe that they can use the scientific method to study behavioral and cognitive phenomena. They base this belief on the assumptions that the behavior they study is determined by specific causes that can be measured. Scientific research, regardless of the discipline, has several general characteristics:

- 1. Empirical analysis is the process of learning through observation and experimentation and through quantifying observations.
- 2. Public verification requires that we conduct research that can be repeated by others and specifically that the variables we examine can be observed by everyone.
- 3. The systematic observation criterion requires us to make our observations under various conditions or settings.
- 4. Control of environment refers to our ability to conduct our research under consistent conditions. When researchers explain various

phenomena, they also attempt to make their explanations rational, parsimonious, and tentative.

- 5. The rational explanation means the terms are clearly defined and can be independently assessed and defined.
- 6. Parsimonious explanations are specific, make few assumptions, and generate many testable ideas. Pseudoexplanations, by contrast, are circular in definition and cannot be directly or objectively assessed.
- 7. Explanations are tentative. Researchers recognize that their explanations must be revised in the face of additional research.

In the final section of the chapter, we examined the case of facilitated communication. This example illustrates what can happen if we casually and uncritically accept claims about human behavior. The example also illustrates how empirical research can demonstrate the value of a therapy.

Knowledge Check

- 1. Describe an area of psychology that you find most interesting. How does the scientific method help researchers better understand this area of psychology?
- 2. Psychology is not the only discipline that examines human behavior. The authors of many great novels write about the human condition and use their stories to describe why people behave as they do. Describe the difference in perspective between a psychologist and the author of a novel.
- 3. Many people believe that professional athletes have moments when they are "in the zone," during which their performance is greatly enhanced. There are also times when the athlete will be "in a slump." By contrast, statisticians argue that these phases do not exist and are nothing more than random events. Which of Bacon's four idols best describes the belief that athletes are in the zone or in a slump?
- 4. You want to buy a new car. A friend of yours, an auto mechanic, says, "Stay away from that car, my shop is always filled with them. I plan to send my kids through college on the work that model makes for me." How does this example relate to Bacon's Idols of the Cave?
- 5. Imagine that Gustav Fechner and John Watson are alive and meet for a conversation. In what ways would they agree that psychology is a science?
- 6. Describe the meaning of introspection and why Watson objected to its use in psychology.
- 7. Jean Piaget was a famous psychologist who studied the cognitive and intellectual development of children. For much of his research, he asked children of different ages to solve logical problems. Can we

consider Piaget to have followed the perspective of methodological behaviorism?

- 8. Use the example of facilitated communication to explain why we cannot depend on testimonials to evaluate an empirical claim.
- 9. Using the example of facilitated communication, show how researchers used (a) empirical analysis, (b) public verification, (c) systematic observation, and (d) control of the environment to question the validity of facilitated communication.

Use the following scenario to answer questions 10 and 11: Imagine that your friend believes that he has psychic powers. He claims that he can often guess what another person is thinking. Two of your other friends agree and claim that there have been several times when your friend has shown his psychic abilities. Given this information, respond to the following questions:

- 10. Why would you want to use empirical methods to confirm your friend's psychic abilities? Why not rely on the testimonials of your friends who are being honest when they say that your friend is psychic?
- 11. Your friend agrees to a test. You create a list of randomly selected common words. As you concentrate on the word, your friend tries to read your mind. He fails the test and is unable to guess any of the words. To explain the failure, he says, "Well you see, it only works when there is no doubt of my ability. You doubt my ability and that creates negative energy that blocks my ability to read minds." Based on what you read in this chapter, comment on your friend's reaction.
- 12. According to the text, what are the essential elements of scientific research? Describe how psychologists incorporate these in their research.
- 13. Contentment is a mental phenomenon that we cannot directly observe; yet it is a common experience. Describe how a psychologist might measure contentment and make it an observable phenomenon.
- 14. A therapist claims that he has developed a new therapy to treat aggressive children. You find several children who received the new therapy but still start fights with other children. The therapist states that the therapy works only when the child really wants to change his or her behavior. Comment on the therapist's reaction.
- 15. Why is public verification especially important for the science of psychology?
- 16. In an interview, a reporter asked a government official to explain why an accused computer hacker had broken into the government's highsecurity computers. The official replied, "The accused has an antisocial personality." Comment on the value of this response.
- 17. Would science exist if there were no measurement? Defend your answer.

Chapter Glossary for Review

Control of environment—A feature of empirical research. The researcher attempts to observe the phenomenon under identical conditions. Also implies that the researcher reduces the effects of distracting or nuisance conditions that will add confusion to the data.

Determinism—A philosophical stance that natural events and human behavior are the result of an orderly sequence of preceding events that can be predicted using fundamental scientific laws.

Empirical analysis—Using observation and research methods involving the gathering of data to help with identifying answers to research questions.

Field study—Research conducted beyond the boundaries of a laboratory, in an environment in which the phenomenon under study tends to occur or exist.

Free will—A philosophical stance that human behavior is independent of external causes and that humans are free to choose how they will act.

Gambler's fallacy—An example of the Idols of the Tribe. The fallacy is a belief that random events follow a predetermined pattern. For example, many people believe that for six tosses of a fair coin, the pattern THHTHT is more likely than TTTHHH; both are equally likely based on laws of probability.

Idols of the Cave—Bacon's phrase to describe the tendency to use one's personal experience as the foundation for truth or the measure of all things.

Idols of the Marketplace—Bacon's phrase to describe how our use of words shapes our perception of and reaction to things.

Idols of the Theatre—Bacon's phrase to describe the tendency to accept a theory or statement as fact and fail to question its accuracy or generality.

Idols of the Tribe—Bacon's concept to describe common errors in humans' thinking. These errors of thought are present, to varying extents, in all people and include overreliance on common sense and logical errors of reasoning.

Introspection—A process by which one attempts to analyze his or her own conscious experiences.

Measurement—The process of converting observations to numbers using a set of rules.

Methodological behaviorism—The belief that psychologists should study observable behaviors to conduct scientific research in psychology. By observing the conditions under which behavior occurs, one can then infer the causes of the behavior or the presence of mental processes that cannot be directly observed.

Nominal fallacy—An example of a pseudoexplanation that makes the erroneous assumption that naming a phenomenon is the same as explaining the phenomenon.

Occam's razor—A version of parsimony that requires that we do not create more distinctions among things than is necessary.

Parsimonious explanation—A requirement in science that we offer explanations that make the fewest assumptions and require reference to few or no unobservable phenomena.

Placebo—A false treatment condition in which participants are not exposed to any real stimulus, but rather an imaginary placeholder such as a sugar pill or glass of water. Useful as a means of creating a control group without the participant knowing he or she is not getting the real treatment.

Pseudoexplanation—An explanation of a phenomenon that does not really explain the phenomenon.

Public verification—The requirement that the subject matter of any empirical research must be observable to any person who uses the same procedures and equipment to examine the phenomenon.

Rational explanation—Offering a description or interpretation of a phenomenon that follows the rules of logic.

Self-fulfilling prophecy—An example of the Idols of the Tribe. People will act in ways that bring about the result(s) they expected in the first place.

Systematic observation—A process in which the researcher varies the conditions under which he or she studies a particular phenomenon.

Tautological (circular) explanation—A form of pseudoexplanation that involves circular definitions, which use the phenomenon to be described when trying to define its cause.

Tentative explanation—The recognition that all descriptions and explanations that arise from empirical research may be incomplete or inaccurate. Additional research may force us to revise our beliefs.

Testimonial—A statement that a person makes about the truth of a fact or a claim based on personal experience.

Chapter References

- American Psychological Association (1994). Resolution on facilitated communication. Retrieved June 3, 2008 from http://www.apa.org/about/division/ cpmscientific.html#5.
- Bacon, F. (1994). *Novum organum* (P. Urbach & J. Gibson, Trans.). Chicago: Open Court. (Original work published 1620).
- Baron, R. M., Graziano, W., & Stangor, C. (1991). Social perception and social cognition. In R. M. Baron & W. Graziano (Eds.), *Social psychology* (pp. 108–159). Fort Worth, TX: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Biklen, D. (1990). Communication unbound: Autism and praxis. *Harvard Educational Review*, 60, 291–315.
- Campbell, S. (1974). *Flaws and fallacies in statistical thinking*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Dauber v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 113 S. Ct. 2786 (1993).

Ebbinghaus, H. (1910). A summary of psychology. Leipzig: Veit.

- Federal Judicial Center (1994). *Reference manual on scientific evidence*. Washington, DC: Author.
- Garcia, J. (1980). Tilting at the paper mills of academe. *American Psychologist*, *36*, 149–158.
- Gould, S. J. (1999). *Rock of ages: Science and religion in the fullness of life*. New York: Ballantine.
- Hedges, L. V. (1987). How hard is hard science, how soft is soft science? The empirical cumulativeness of research. *American Psychologist*, 42(5), 443–455.
- Hudson, A., Melita, B., & Arnold, N. (1993). Assessing the validity of facilitated communication: A case study. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 23, 165–173.
- Kohn, A. (1990). You know what they say . . . : The truth about popular beliefs. New York: HarperCollins.
- Lakin, J. L., Giesler, R. B., Morris, K. A., & Vosmik, J. R. (2007). HOMER as an acronym for the scientific method. *Teaching of Psychology*, *34*(2), 94–96.
- Mazur, J. E. (1998). Learning and behavior. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Montee, B. B., Miltenberger, R. G., & Wittrock, D. (1995). An experimental analysis of facilitated communication. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, *28*, 189–200.
- Moore, S., Donovan, B., & Hudson, A. (1993). Facilitator-suggested conversational evaluation of facilitated communication. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 23, 451–551.
- Murray, D. J. (1983). *A history of western psychology*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Nisbett, R. E., & Ross, L. (1980). *Human inference: Strategies and shortcomings of social judgment*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Ogles, B. M., Lambert, M. J., & Masters, K. S. (1996). *Assessing outcomes in clinical practice*. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.

Popper, K. (1963). Science: Conjectures and refutations. New York: Harper and Row.

- Premack, D. (1959). Toward empirical behavioral laws: I. Positive reinforcement. *Psychological Review*, 66, 219–233.
- Premack, D. (1965). Reinforcement theory. In D. Levine (Ed.), *Nebraska symposia on motivation* (pp. 123–180). Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.
- Rosnow, R. L., & Rosenthal, R. (1997). *People studying people: Artifacts and ethics in behavioral research*. New York: Freeman.
- Scarr, S., Phillips, D., & McCartney, K. (1990). Facts, fantasies, and the future of child care in the United States. *Psychological Science*, 1, 255–264.
- Timberlake, W., & Allison, J. (1974). Response deprivation: An empirical approach to instrumental performance. *Psychological Review*, *81*, 146–164.
- Watson, J. B. (1913). Psychology as the behaviorist views it. *Psychological Review*, 20, 158–177.
- Wheeler, D. L., Jacobson, J. W., Paglieri, R. A., & Schwartz, A. A. (1993). An experimental assessment of facilitated communication. *Mental Retardation*, 31, 49–60.

Chapter 2 Ethics and Research

CHAPTER OBJECTIVES

Introduction What Is Ethics? Approaches to Ethical Analysis Making Ethical Decisions The Ethical Code of the American Psychological Association Seeking Approval for Research: The Institutional Review Board Milgram's Experiment Revisited Research with Animals Research in Action: Ethical Dilemmas

The essence of morality is a questioning about morality; and the decisive move of human life is to use ceaselessly all light to look for the origin of the opposition between good and evil.

-Georges Bataille

Introduction

From the moment we wake up in the morning until we return to sleep in the evening, we confront situations that require us to act in one way or another. Typically, the choices that we make have little bearing on the lives of others. The decision whether to have a second cup of coffee or trudge off to the library to study may characterize the typical "dilemmas" we face. There are, however, cases where our actions do directly affect the lives and well-being of others. These choices represent a special case of decision making because they involve moral behavior.

Anyone who conducts research must be sensitive to and mindful of moral principles and ethical reasoning. As you will learn in this chapter, researchers are serious about their responsibility to act morally. All behavioral research affects the lives of the human participants and animal subjects. Therefore, before we begin any research, we must examine with considerable care the ethical implications of our work. In other words, we must consider the justification for and the consequences of our actions. Researchers have a personal stake in examining the moral principles that guide their work. Foremost among these principles is the belief that the researcher should do no harm. Although scientific research is important, the potential value of any given research study does not grant an automatic license to the researcher to act without regard to the welfare of others.

Aside from this basic ethical tenet, there are also practical reasons for researchers to examine the morality of their work. Most professional organizations have a set of clearly stated ethical guidelines. One of the most far-reaching codes is maintained by the American Psychological Association (APA), which represents well over 140,000 psychologists. This code is an elaborate ethical code of conduct that establishes the foundation for the moral behavior of all APA members (APA, 2002). This code is also often followed by psychologists who are not members of APA. In addition, this code has been adopted by some state psychology and other licensing boards, making violations of this code a major issue for licensed psychologists who wish to retain their licensure. Other authoritative organizations, such as the American Sociological Association and American Anthropological Association, have similar codes of conduct that require the researcher to justify his or her research. While codes vary slightly from association to association, they all have the goals of minimizing harm and ensuring the proper use of scientific knowledge. As a representative example of these codes, the APA ethical guidelines will be discussed in more depth later in this chapter. The most up-to-date guidelines for ethics within specific scientific fields can also typically be found on all professional associations' websites.

Apart from professional societies, the federal government also monitors the ethics of research by requiring that all researchers receiving federal grants to conduct research on humans or nonhuman animals must submit a proposal of their research to an **Institutional Review Board (IRB)** for approval. An IRB is a group of researchers and other professionals (e.g., lawyers, ministers, physicians) who examine the researcher's proposed methodology to ensure that the researcher will protect the basic rights of the participants in the study. Most large research universities and colleges have an IRB and require all researchers, regardless of the funding source, to obtain IRB approval for any human research. All institutions receiving federal funding must have an IRB for human research. This being the case, you will inevitably need to seek approval from your IRB to conduct research.

In this chapter, we will examine common ethical issues that arise when researchers go about the process of actually collecting data from humans or animals. First, we will examine several broad ethical principles and perspectives that are a part of any ethical decision. We will then examine the ethical principles established by the APA as they apply to research with humans and animals. Finally, we will examine an array of case studies that will allow us to examine ethical dilemmas that researchers in the social and behavioral sciences often face.

What Is Ethics?

What does it mean to be moral or to act morally? What is ethics? Morality and ethics represent a set of interconnected principles and ways for making choices. As we progress through this chapter, we will use ethics and morality to describe how researchers make decisions about their research design. For example, we will ask, "Is this procedure moral?" or "What is the ethical thing to do in this specific study?"

Although many people use the words *morals* and *ethics* interchangeably, there is an important difference between the two. In general, **morals** are the principles or rules that define what is right and wrong. For example, you may have learned that it is wrong to lie to others and that is good to help others. By contrast, **ethics** is the process of studying moral standards and examining how we should interpret and apply them in various situations. An example of ethics is asking whether it is acceptable to lie to another person to spare them the shock and pain created by the truth or if it is acceptable to steal something to save the life of another person.

You should recognize that ethics is more than "doing the right thing." Although it is important that you behave correctly, it is also important that you understand *why* you make the decisions you do. One might even argue that your behavior is not moral unless you can justify your actions. Consequently, whenever you conduct research, you must ask yourself whether your actions are right or wrong and be able to justify your decision. Although there are many moral standards or principles, they all share four general characteristics. Understanding these characteristics will help set the stage for our review of specific moral principles and ethical deliberation.

Moral Principles Address the Well-Being of Others

At the heart of morality is the well-being of people who are affected by our behaviors. This concern for others is an integral component of our religions, laws, and social codes. Your parents, for example, have hopefully taught you to believe that it is bad to hurt others intentionally. Consequently, you probably believe that assault, child abuse, theft, and murder are wrong because they harm others. Thus, the well-being of others is the central feature of all codes of conduct.

Moral Principles Transcend Other Standards, Including Self-Interest

Moral principles direct us to act without regard to our personal goals and interests. For example, during the 1960s, many people in the United States protested the segregation laws practiced in many states. These people believed that they had a moral obligation to oppose laws that systematically denied other Americans their civil liberties. By participating in marches and helping with voter registration programs, these people took considerable personal risk to stand for what they believed was right.

There is nothing wrong with pursuing self-interest; it is a reasonable goal. The question arises, however, when we must choose between a morally correct behavior and personal gratification. Would you cheat on an exam or submit a plagiarized paper to get an "A" in a course? If you knew you would not get caught, would this change your answer to the question?

When faced with a conflict between self-interest and moral behavior, morality should lead the way. The application of this principle to research is clear. No matter how valuable the data may be to us, we cannot overlook the rights of the participants in the research and the ethical implications of our findings to society in general.

Moral Principles Are Constants and Universals

The laws our governments make are often arbitrary and reflect many compromises among lawmakers. By contrast, moral principles are not arbitrary and do not reflect mere agreement among a few people. For example, there is no moral principle supporting the law that we drive on the right side of the road. That law represents an arbitrary and convenient standard for motorists to follow (we could change the law to require that people drive on the left side of the road). Another example of the arbitrary nature of laws is that each state has a different set of laws. In many cases, what is legal in one state may be illegal in a neighboring state. In contrast, we treat moral principles as if they are self-evident facts that apply to all people in all situations. Consequently, we follow moral principles because they reflect a universal virtue, not because some authority directs us to do so.

Moral Principles Are Impartial

When we examine moral problems, we attempt to solve them consistently and impartially. For example, some people oppose any research that uses animals because they believe that the research harms the animal's wellbeing. A person who opposes animal research may begin by endorsing the moral principle that one should act to maximize happiness and minimize suffering. They may also argue that animals, like humans, can feel pain and do suffer. These observations lead some people to believe that the dividing line between humans and animals is arbitrary and irrelevant. The conclusion from this line of reasoning is that the moral principle of maximizing happiness and minimizing suffering must be impartially and equally applied to humans and animals.

Ethics and Ethical Codes

Ethics is a process of investigation, criticism, and decision making. When we say that someone studies ethics, we mean that he or she examines how basic moral standards and the facts of a situation lead to a consistent moral conclusion. An **ethical code**, or **code of conduct**, is a set of rules established

by and for a group of people. As we noted previously, the APA has an ethical code that consists of a set of rules that governs its members. Like any set of rules, parts of the ethical code of psychologists consist of regulations agreed upon through a process of compromise and consensus. Therefore, like any collection of rules created by a group of people, the APA's code of conduct is subject to criticism and revision.

Although the APA ethical code offers a useful guideline for your research, you should not treat it as the final and authoritative word on moral behavior. Remember that ethics is the process of examining moral principles and behavior. Consequently, anyone who conducts research should consider carefully the moral implications of his or her research. There may be situations where you will have to defend the morality of your study. In these situations, saying, "I was just doing what the APA code allows me to do" will not be sufficient. Instead, you will need to be prepared to answer difficult questions regarding the protection of the dignity and well-being of your research participants, as well as the value of your research for others. You may also have to justify your choice of research methodology, by proving that no other, less potentially harmful method exists or could be practically used for your research. Questions about moral behavior require you to recount the ethical deliberations you used to reach your conclusions. The following section provides you with two different perspectives on research ethics that you can use in your own ethical analysis of research.

Approaches to Ethical Analysis

Throughout history, people have devised different approaches to determine what constitutes ethical and unethical behavior. We cannot examine all of these in this chapter. Instead, we will examine two of the more influential approaches and encourage you to enroll in a philosophy of ethics course. The two approaches that we will review are the principle of utilitarianism and the principle of rights.

The Principle of Utilitarianism

Jeremy Bentham (1748–1832) and John Stuart Mill (1808–1873) were two philosophers who wrote a great deal about the principles of utilitarianism. The fundamental perspective of **utilitarianism** is that ethical behaviors are those where the total positive outcomes are greater than the total negative outcomes produced by one's actions (i.e., when the positive consequences of the ends help to justify the means by which those ends were achieved). For utilitarianism, the primary focus of the ethical analysis is the consequence of our behavior. As Bentham often quipped, "the . . . truth is that it is the greatest happiness of the greatest number that is the measure of right and wrong." Therefore, a behavior is morally correct if the positive consequences outweigh the negative consequences for the greatest number of people. Mill, like Bentham, agreed that we must consider the consequences of our actions but was specific about the types of consequences we should examine. According to Mill, we should select behaviors that maximize happiness while minimizing suffering. Therefore, from Mill's perspective of utilitarianism, actions that create the greatest good or happiness for the most people are morally correct behaviors.

How would we apply this principle to behavioral research? The goal of research, according to utilitarianism, should be to maximize happiness for the greatest number of beings. Consequently, from this perspective psychologists must justify a research project by satisfying two conditions. First, the researcher should be able to show that the results will produce a useful outcome that will benefit others. Therefore, if the research jeopardizes the well-being of the participants, the researcher must demonstrate that the benefits of the study outweigh the discomfort experienced by the participants. Second, the researcher must demonstrate that the specific methods employed are better than all the available options for collecting the data. In other words, the researcher must show that there is no other, more ethical method for collecting data of the same quality.

Here is an example of how we might use utilitarian reasoning in an applied experiment. In an experiment designed to test the effectiveness of a new treatment for depression, we randomly assign some people to a control condition. By definition, people in this condition will receive nothing that will improve their mood. The other people in the experiment will receive what we believe to be an effective treatment. How can we justify withholding a useful treatment from the people in the control group? We know that these individuals are distressed and we believe that the treatment would make them feel better. Furthermore, our actions prevent these people from feeling better because we purposefully withhold the treatment.

We can justify the experiment by using the utilitarian perspective if we can successfully support two arguments. First, we must show that the results of the experiment have the potential of bringing the greatest happiness to the greatest number of people. If the experiment is successful, we can say with confidence that we have a valid treatment for depression and thereby be able to treat countless people suffering from this condition. Second, we must show that this experiment is the only way to assess the effectiveness of the treatment. We would have to prove that this research design, more than any other research design, will produce the results we need to evaluate the effectiveness of the treatment. If we can make these claims, then we can conclude that the experiment is morally acceptable because we have determined that the potential happiness for many people outweighs the temporary discomfort of a few people in a control group. A third, design-based option in the present example is to use a research design in which all participants will eventually receive the depression treatment, but at different times. This can allow you to have a control group that dwindles in size over time until all participants have had the chance to benefit from the treatment.

In the social and behavioral sciences, many experiments can cause temporary distress for the participants. For example, to understand the sensation of pain, the researcher has to inflict pain. To understand aggression, it may be necessary to create situations where one person can demonstrate aggression toward another person. Although the participants may agree that the conditions of the study are unpleasant, the researcher can justify the research if the results, in the long run, improve the lives of many and if there is no other reasonable way to collect the data.

Disadvantages of Utilitarianism

Although intuitively appealing, the utilitarian perspective on ethics suffers from several disadvantages, most of which are due to our inability to firmly define benefits and costs. For example, how are we to know the true effect of any experiment? How do we determine the relative cost of a person's discomfort or his or her happiness? Although we use these terms every day, how do we weigh or measure discomfort and happiness? What accounting system do we use to ensure that our experiments do not go into debt by creating more discomfort than happiness? What counts as a cost? What counts as a benefit? One person may think that the results are of considerable theoretical significance and thereby serve science. You, however, may think that the results are trivial and of no known practical value. Therefore, one of the essential problems with utilitarianism is that *value, discomfort*, and *happiness* are vague terms that are hard to quantify.

Advantages of Utilitarianism

Aside from these important disadvantages, utilitarianism does offer multiple advantages to a researcher attempting to demonstrate the ethics of his or her research. One advantage is that utilitarianism offers a clear rationale for conducting research that creates temporary discomfort in participants. The researcher can justify the temporary discomfort of a few people if he or she can show that the results have a recognized value and that there is no other reasonable way to collect the data.

Another advantage of utilitarianism is that it allows us to evaluate the morality of any research project from a surface perspective. Such a perspective may allow us to recognize that there are exceptions to some moral principles. Consequently, we can use utilitarianism to find a balance between two moral principles that may seem otherwise incompatible with each other. For instance, we may believe that each participant in a study has the right to receive information concerning his or her performance in a research project. Does this mean that the researcher must reveal everything about the participant's performance? What if the participant completed an intelligence test as a part of the study; are we obligated to disclose the results of the test to the person? Using the utilitarianism perspective would allow us to balance the benefits and costs of the disclosure. Therefore, we may withhold information if we believe that sharing the results will do more harm than

good. In other situations, however, our analysis of the situation may compel us to share the full test results with the participant.

The Principle of Rights

The utilitarian perspective requires that we examine the consequences of our actions to determine whether a behavior is morally right or wrong. The perspective of rights is a completely different method of studying ethics because it requires us to recognize that the rights of other people must guide our actions. When we speak of moral rights, we mean that every person is entitled to certain privileges regardless of who they are. That is, moral rights are universal principles applied to every person equally and impartially. The philosophical foundation for this concept of universal moral rights is most often attributed to the philosopher Immanuel Kant (1724–1804).

Kant formulated the principle of the categorical imperative as a means to determine fundamental moral principles. As you will see, the categorical imperative allows us to define moral principles and to identify our duty as moral agents. For Kant, doing the "right" thing was not enough. We often do the right thing because it serves our goals. Some people give money to charity because they can use the donation as a tax deduction, to win the admiration of others, and to express pity for the less fortunate. Although giving money to a charity may be a nice thing to do, it is not automatically the morally right thing to do. According to Kant, the individual's sense of moral duty must drive his or her actions. Consequently, a true charitable act would be to donate the money in such a way that no one knows who gave the money. The categorical imperative in this case is that giving should occur without the expectation of benefit to the donor. Following Kant's categorical imperative, it is not enough to accept blindly any code of conduct as a field guide of the right and wrong things to do in research. Rather, you should examine the moral principles that guide your work as a researcher.

An essential formulation of the **categorical imperative** is, "Act in such a way that you always treat humanity, whether in your own person or in the person of any other, never simply as a means, but always at the same time as an end" (Kant, 1750/1964, p. 96). This formulation of the categorical imperative establishes that all people are equal, as are their moral rights. More specifically, this moral code requires that we respect the dignity of other people and refuse to treat them merely as a way to serve our selfinterests. We must ensure that our behavior as researchers does not deny others their basic rights. The principle also requires that we avoid actions that diminish the dignity or self-worth of other people.

This formulation of the categorical imperative is a cornerstone of the APA's ethical guidelines (APA, 2002). For example, Principle E of the code requires psychologists to respect the rights and dignity of all people. Specifically, the definition of this principle includes the passage, "Psychologists respect the dignity and worth of all people, and the rights of individuals to privacy, confidentiality, and self-determination."

The ethical perspective created by the principle of rights is different from the utilitarian perspective. As noted previously, the utilitarian perspective considers only the consequences of our behavior. By contrast, the principle of rights requires that we examine the intention of our actual behaviors throughout the research process (i.e., instead of justifying the means by focusing on the outcomes, now the focus is on the means themselves). In addition, the principle does not focus on the balance of positive and negative outcomes. Rather, the principle of rights examines the universal rights each participant has and the duty we have to respect those rights at all times.

Disadvantages of Principle of Rights

Several criticisms can be directed at a principle-of-rights approach to justifying the ethicality of research. The first is that the system has no way to balance the conflicting rights of all individuals involved in the research process. For example, the authors of this book are psychologists who believe that all people should participate in research when given informed consent and the choice not to participate. To us, helping expand the body of scientific knowledge is a moral duty. By contrast, another person may believe that scientific research is misguided and that no one should act to help researchers. Kant's categorical imperative treats these conflicting rights as equal and gives us no way to decide between them. Because this perspective does not consider the consequences of our behavior, we have no way of resolving the conflict.

A second problem with Kant's perspective is that it can sometimes be too absolute and create conditions that we find intuitively unacceptable. For example, we may believe that confidentiality is a moral right that must be accorded to all research participants. According to Kant's categorical imperative, we must never divulge what someone did or said to us as a part of our research. Imagine that I am conducting an interview as a part of my research. In response to one of the questions, a participant tells me, "I've been having sexual relations with the little girl who lives next door." Application of a categorical imperative involving the absolute right to confidentiality would lead us to not report what is clearly morally unacceptable behavior. According to Kant, the consequences of maintaining confidentiality are immaterial. If we believe that confidentiality is a universal rule, then we cannot violate the participant's confidentiality. If we call the police or warn the little girl's parents, we will violate our rule and can no longer say that confidentiality is a universal moral right of all people.

Advantages of Principle of Rights

Kant's philosophical principles make clear that all people are equal and that we cannot treat them as if they were pieces of equipment. This perspective is in keeping with our beliefs about morality and is an integral part of the APA's (2002) code of conduct. Specifically, the code of conduct recognizes that we cannot conduct research merely to serve our self-interests. Our research procedures must respect the dignity of the people who participate in our research and recognize that they have the capacity to act freely. Following this principle saves us from committing dreadful acts in the self-serving name of science.

Making Ethical Decisions

Life is complex and often unpredictable. Consequently, there is no way that we can create a single set of rules that prescribes what you should do in every situation that you will encounter. In a similar fashion, it is unacceptable for any researcher to attempt to justify the ethicality of research by using either the utilitarian or principle-of-rights criteria. Instead, we try to formulate general standards or principles that can guide our decisions and behavior when conducting research.

Thus far, you have learned that the perspective of utilitarianism and the perspective of rights lead to different strategies for resolving ethical conundrums. In addition, each perspective has its relative advantages and disadvantages. These two perspectives can often lead to conflicting conclusions. Because research is a practical enterprise, we need to find some way to make practical decisions.

As we have already noted, ethical reasoning requires careful thought and deliberation. To examine an ethical issue, we must begin by examining the moral principles that we hold to be true. Next, we examine the specific circumstances of the situation. Using consistent and objective reasoning, we can determine how to behave.

Figure 2.1 represents the sequence of events that we use to come to an ethical decision. The moral standards are those principles that we hold to be true. This approach requires that we attempt to balance these moral standards within the circumstances of the research project. The result of this discourse is the moral decision and our course of action. As you will see, the ethical code of the APA follows this pattern to examine ethical principles.



Figure 2.1

Ethical Decision Making

Using fundamental moral principles and the facts of the situation, a person can come to a rational and logical decision.

42

The Ethical Code of the American Psychological Association

Research on humans is a relatively new phenomenon (Resnik, 1998). Before the twentieth century, most scientists conducted research on topics unrelated to human behavior and the body. Toward the end of the nineteenth century, however, scientists began to study humans in detail. During this time, the study of people moved from purely a philosophical exercise to assert itself as an empirical science. At the same time, physicians began to use the scientific method to study various diseases and their cures. Soon, research using living people became commonplace. Unfortunately, there was no ethical code to guide researchers except their personal beliefs and conscience. The need for an ethical code for researchers studying humans became apparent in the late 1940s. It is important for us to also recognize that our perspectives on what constitutes ethical treatment of human and animal research participants has evolved with societal views over time. Thus, when we discuss historical examples of ethical and unethical research, bear in mind that some research studies that seem wrong by today's standards may have been viewed as acceptable when originally conducted.

Although this is true for some studies, it is does not hold when speaking of the war crimes conducted by the Nazis during World War II. Included in the charges filed by Allied powers at the end of the war were allegations that Nazi scientists conducted cruel experiments on Jews and other groups of people held in the concentration camps. These experiments were little more than protracted torture. As a response to these atrocities, researchers developed the Nuremberg Code (Resnik, 1998). The Nuremberg Code, listed in Box 2.1, consists of nine fundamental principles that researchers must use when conducting research with humans.

Box 2.1 The Nuremberg Code of Principles Governing Research Using Humans

- 1. **Informed Consent:** The participant must understand what will happen to him or her in the research and then volunteer to participate.
- 2. Social Value: The results of a study should benefit society.
- 3. **Scientific Validity:** Only trained scientists who employ careful and well-designed studies should conduct research.
- 4. **No Malfeasance:** Researchers must conduct studies that are safe and minimize risk of harm to the participants.
- 5. **Termination:** The participant may withdraw from the study for any reason, and the researcher must stop the study if the participant is at risk of injury or death.
- 6. **Privacy:** The researcher must preserve the privacy/confidentiality of the participant.

(Continued)

- 7. **Vulnerable Populations:** Researchers need to use special caution to protect the rights of those who cannot act for themselves, including children, the developmentally delayed, or the mentally disabled.
- 8. **Fairness:** Selection of the participants for the research and assignment to treatment conditions must be fair, consistent, and equitable.
- 9. Monitoring: The researcher must continually monitor the study to ensure the safety of participants.

Note: The original Nuremberg Code included Principles 1–5. Principles 6–9 are more recent additions to the code (Resnik, 1998).

Unfortunately, horrible and immoral experiments on humans were not only occurring at the hands of Nazi scientists. Recently released documents from the United States Department of Energy reveal that during the 1940s and 1950s, U.S. government researchers conducted experiments on unsuspecting American citizens to determine the effects of nuclear radiation (Welsome, 1999). None of the people knew that they had been exposed to these deadly conditions. In another case, physicians at the Tuskegee Institute purposefully withheld treatment from 399 people who had contracted syphilis, for the sole purpose of studying the long-term effects of this dreadful disease (Jones, 1982). Unfortunately, these examples are not isolated cases (Resnik, 1998).

This bleak history illustrates the need to create and enforce clear ethical guidelines. The **National Research Act**, which became law in 1974 (PL-93–348), established the IRB that we described earlier. The law requires that researchers receiving federal money to conduct research with humans and animals must demonstrate that their research methods meet minimal ethical standards and that the IRB review the research proposal. As mentioned earlier, most colleges and universities now have IRB committees that review any and all research involving humans and/or animals regardless of how the research is being funded.

In the late 1960s and early 1970s, the APA created its first ethical guidelines. Since then, the APA has revised the code, with the current version published in 2002. The Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct establishes a set of principles that psychologist members of the APA must use to make decisions about their professional behavior. Box 2.2 lists the general ethical principles the code identifies for all psychologists.

Box 2.2 The General Ethical Principles for All Members of the American Psychological Association. Based on the APA's Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct (2002)

A. **Beneficence and Nonmaleficence:** Psychologists strive to benefit those with whom they work and take care to do no harm. In their professional actions, psychologists seek to safeguard the welfare and rights of those with whom they interact professionally and other affected persons, and the welfare of animal subjects of research.

(Continued)

(Continued)

- B. **Fidelity and Responsibility:** Psychologists establish relationships of trust with those with whom they work. Psychologists uphold professional standards of conduct, clarify their professional roles and obligations, accept appropriate responsibility for their behavior, and seek to manage conflicts of interest that could lead to exploitation or harm.
- C. **Integrity:** Psychologists seek to promote accuracy, honesty, and truthfulness in the science, teaching, and practice of psychology. In these activities psychologists do not steal, cheat, or engage in fraud, subterfuge, or intentional misrepresentation of fact.
- D. **Justice:** Psychologists recognize that fairness and justice entitle all persons to access to and benefit from the contributions of psychology and to equal quality in the processes, procedures, and services being conducted by psychologists.
- E. **Respect for People's Rights and Dignity:** Psychologists respect the dignity and worth of all people, and the rights of individuals to privacy, confidentiality, and self-determination.

The complete code is very long and covers many professional domains including therapy, psychological testing, psychological research, and other activities such as teaching and supervising employees. In the following sections, we will examine the basic APA ethical principles as they apply to conducting research with humans and animals.

Seeking Approval for Research: The Institutional Review Board

In this section, we will examine how psychologists seek approval for their research and the interplay between the IRB and the ethical code of the APA. The size and complexity of an IRB will vary depending on the size of the institution and the type of research that is typically conducted there. A standard IRB is composed of researchers and other professionals who understand the legal and ethical standards that guide research. In some cases, research using specialized procedures or unique populations requires special members of the IRB. For example, the National Bioethics Advisory Commission (1998) offered specific recommendations for cases when the proposed research will use people with a mental disability (e.g., schizophrenia or a developmental disability). Specifically, the commission recommended that the IRB include at least two professionals familiar with the disability; a family member of a person with the disability or a representative of an advocacy group; and, when possible, a person with the disability. This recommendation ensures that the members of the IRB understand the nature of the disability and preserve the rights of people with the condition.

Planning Research and Seeking IRB Approval

Researchers submit a detailed description of their research by answering a series of questions. The members of the IRB review the material and then inform the researcher whether he or she may proceed with the research. In

some cases, the IRB may require minor or substantial modifications to parts of the research to protect the rights of the participants. Box 2.3 presents an example of an IRB form. The questions require the researcher to examine all aspects of his or her research. You should recognize, however, that each IRB creates its own application and review procedures.

	Proposal for Research Involving Humans
1.	Title of Project:
2.	Type of research: Faculty Student Honors Project Student Project Student
3.	Starting date for the investigation:
4.	Name(s) of investigator(s) and campus phone number(s):
5.	Name of supervising faculty member and campus telephone number(s):
6.	Has previous research or pilot studies indicated any significant dangers or risks in the propose procedures? Yes No
7.	Does this research involve any active deception of the participants? Yes No
8. Sign Sign	Will any information from this investigation be confidential? Yes No nature of investigator(s): date: nature of faculty supervisor: date:
Res	pond to each of the following:
9.	Describe the general purpose of the research.
10.	Describe the procedures and tests used in the investigation.
11. Info	Describe how you will obtain Informed Consent or justify why you will not obtain ormed Consent. Attach a copy of the Informed Consent Contract you plan to use.
12.	Describe how you will recruit participants. Describe any special requirements of the populatio and any criteria for inclusion or exclusion of participants.
13.	Identify how you examined potential hazards of this research. Give references when appropriate
14.	Describe and assess the potential hazards (physical, psychological, or legal) and estimate the likelihood and seriousness.
15.	Describe any procedures that you will employ for minimizing potential hazards and give a assessment of their potential effectiveness.
16.	Indicate how and when you will inform participants of the purpose of the research.
17.	Describe what you know about the ethical guidelines for treating humans within your discipline
If yo	ou answered "yes" to Question #7 then provide the following information:
102	Explain the rationale for the decention. How and when will the participants learn of th